# The quiet transnationalisation of board-level employee representation in national law and practice

A case for pan-European legislation

Sara Lafuente

Vorking Paper 2023.06



# The quiet transnationalisation of board-level employee representation in national law and practice

A case for pan-European legislation

Sara Lafuente

Vorking Paper 2023.06 european trade union institut

## **Sara Lafuente** is a researcher at the European Trade Union Institute (ETUI) in Brussels. Contact: slafuentehernandez@etui.org

Brussels, 2023 <sup>®</sup>Publisher: ETUI aisbl, Brussels All rights reserved Print: ETUI Printshop, Brussels

D/2023/10.574/21 ISSN: 1994-4446 (print version) ISSN: 1994-4454 (electronic version)



The ETUI is co-funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the ETUI. Neither the European Union nor the ETUI can be held responsible for them.

### Contents

| Abst   | ract  | 4    |  |
|--------|---|------|--|
| 1.     | Introduction  | 5    |  |
| 2.     | Partial policy efforts towards BLER Europeanisation   | 10   |  |
| 3.     | Methodological considerations   | . 12 |  |
| 3.1    | Case study selection: internationalised economies and BLER<br>at group level                                      | 12   |  |
| 3.2    | Methods, data collection, analysis  |      |  |
| 4.     | Bottom-up routes to transnationalise BLER: from ad hoc political arrangements to multi-level institutionalisation | 16   |  |
| 4.1    | Germany: trade unions as gatekeepers of rare symbolic political   | 10   |  |
| 4.2    | arrangements<br>Sweden: BLER 'Scandinavisation' as a condiment of Nordic capitalist<br>projects                   |      |  |
| 4.3    | Norway: The world as a space to negotiate BLER in transnational groups  |      |  |
| 4.4    | Denmark: BLER Europeanisation in shareholders' hands  |      |  |
| 4.5    | France: a new role for European Works Councils decided by shareholders  |      |  |
| 5.     | Transversal comparative findings  | 32   |  |
| 5.1    | Diverse institutional frameworks  | 32   |  |
| 5.2    | Implementation and implications for power relations   | 34   |  |
| 6.     | Discussion: imagining alternatives for BLER Europeanisation in MNCs   | 37   |  |
| 7.     | Conclusions   | 42   |  |
|        | eviations   |      |  |
|        | References  |      |  |
| -      | l texts   |      |  |
| List o | of interviews and focus groups  | 55   |  |

#### Abstract

Board-level employee representation rights are far from harmonised at the level of the European Union. Yet, beyond some limited cases of Europeanisation taking root in EU secondary law (i.e. the European Company Directive (Societas Europaea) and other corporate law instruments taking this framework as a reference), experiences of transnationalisation have found their way in multinational groups operating in the European Economic Area based on national law and practice and independently of any EU legislation. This Working Paper examines the diversity of institutional routes available and applied by actors in Germany, Sweden, Norway, Denmark and France. It argues that the legal, practical and political challenges raised by these bottomup solutions call for pan-European coordinated solutions on representation rights, both in legislation and trade union strategy. Drawing on country case studies and interdisciplinary methods, the Paper identifies different practices of transnationalisation and the factors which promote or hinder them, as well as the implications for national systems of employee representation and the development of European industrial relations. Some recommendations emerge for trade unions, policymakers and research.

**Keywords:** board-level employee representation; Europeanisation; transnationalisation; MNCs; trade unions.

#### Acknowledgements

I am grateful to the editors of this working paper at the ETUI, Silvia Rainone and Wouter Zwysen, for their collegial support, swift work and constructive suggestions at different stages of the process. The two peer reviewers and Aline Hoffmann deserve special thanks for their stimulating comments on a previous draft: they allowed me to enrich and clarify the presentation of results and certainly improved the quality of this paper. I owe a lot to Calvin Allen, Jacqueline Rotty and Olivier Druez as well, for their thoughtful language check, reference check and layout. Finally, I am indebted to the many experts and trade unionists who generously shared their knowledge and time in the context of this research. Many exchanges were informal and could not be reflected in the methodological part of the paper; they were nevertheless a constant source of motivation and orientation.

### 1. Introduction

When it comes to studying the Europeanisation of board-level employee representation (BLER), research focuses almost exclusively on the European Company (Societas Europaea, or SE). The 2001 SE Directive was the first legislative instrument regulating worker participation rights on company boards at EU level. Based on negotiation and 'before-after' safeguarding principles, it was a key reference for other EU corporate law instruments touching upon BLER rights (i.e. the 2005 Cross-border Mergers Directive<sup>1</sup> and, more recently, the 2019 amendment Directive on cross-border conversions, mergers and divisions<sup>2</sup>).

Yet, beyond those limited cases of BLER Europeanisation taking root in EU secondary law,3 experiences of transnationalisation have found their way independently of EU legislation, although these have been largely neglected in EU industrial relations research. Some countries with extended BLER rights in corporate groups have accounted for the impact of transnationalisation in their systems of codetermination, either excluding, allowing or promoting the involvement of worker representatives from foreign subsidiaries on parent company boards registered on their territory. Their adaptation to the increasing transnational corporate reality in the margins of explicit EU regulation bears a certain parallel with the early experimentation with European group councils before the European Works Council (EWC) Directive was adopted (Rehfeldt 1993).

The question is not a minor one: the situation may affect a significant number of corporate groups and employees in Europe, and parent company boards have important decision making powers in MNCs.<sup>4</sup> Corporate activity

<sup>1.</sup> EU Directive 2005/56/EC on cross-border mergers of limited liability companies was repealed by EU Directive 2017/1132/EC of 14 June 2017 relating to certain aspects of company law.

<sup>2.</sup> EU Directive 2019/2121 amending former Directive 2017/1132 on cross-border conversions, mergers and divisions should have been transposed into national law by January 2023, although the transposition has been delayed in most Member States.

**<sup>3.</sup>** Only 88 out of 3368 SEs have negotiated BLER in their agreements (ETUI 2021a) and, of 6214 cross-border merger cases, only 47 mention BLER in their merger plans, 28 of which specifically refer to BLER renegotiations (Meyer and Biermeyer 2021).

**<sup>4.</sup>** Here, I assume a parent company board has ultimate decision making powers over company policy and worker representatives can exert influence therein. In practice, workers' influence depends on a number of internal and contextual factors, e.g. the resources, power relations, position and competences of the participatory board (Rosenbohm and Haipeter 2019; Waddington and Conchon 2016).

is transnationalising, and workers' interests and problems often depend on decisions taken at supranational level, but trade union action and the scope of BLER systems remain largely domestic. This gap raises questions about the extent to which national BLER systems can actually influence transnational corporate decision making and how (far) the composition of BLER in multinational companies could be considered politically legitimate. When worker representatives have the right to sit on a parent company board according to national law, to what extent are the interests of the transnational workforce taken into account in institutional arrangements and actual practice? How far can the inclusion of foreign worker representatives be indicative of a social and political process of Europeanisation? These arrangements and practices could constitute political opportunity structures for cross-national labour collaboration and collective action (Turner 1996), but what are the legal and political implications for the making of Europeanised worker representation on company boards and how far do they extend?

This Paper assesses national institutional frameworks and actual practice against the backdrop of Europeanisation theory. Europeanisation has been defined in multiple ways in political science and EU integration studies.<sup>5</sup> The present research aims at understanding how far Member States incorporate a European dimension into their BLER frameworks and in how (far) trade unions and employers have been promotors or users of these Europeanised options. Answering these questions might tell us a great deal about the potential or limits of a European integration 'by stealth rather than by frankly political means' (Majone 2005: vii) in the field of BLER rights. Approaches conceiving Europeanisation only as top-down ('down-loading'), bottom-up ('up-loading') or policy transfer ('cross-loading') processes seem unfit for purpose. Conversely, a notion that combines top-down and bottom-up dynamics (Featherstone and Radaelli 2003), emphasising their interaction and the use that actors make of the European space (Menz 2008: 83), appears more encompassing.

Europeanisation is the whole set of formal or informal processes, practices and dynamics deployed by different actors considering the EU space and its regulatory relevance. Such an inclusive perspective allows looking at how national institutions and actors incorporate and reproduce European frames, and at their role in influencing and shaping EU policy. National regulators and social actors are involved in multiple ways in a complex multidirectional process, not only as receivers and implementors, but crucially as effective makers of Europeanisation (Fetzer 2010; Menz 2008). Conversely, transnationalisation refers more generally to processes of internationalisation that may or may not overlap with the EU as a regulatory arena.

**<sup>5.</sup>** For an overview and discussion of Europeanisation theories, see e.g. Howell 2004; Duez 2014; Bandov and Herceg Kolman 2018; and Saurugger 2020.

This approach is combined with a sociological perspective on Europeanisation, informed by the use (or lack of use) of Europe by social actors in their action, strategies and routines (Woll and Jacquot 2010; Kostera 2013). Erne's seminal distinction between Euro-technocratisation and Euro-democratisation strategies that actors, particularly trade unions, can pursue regarding European integration is useful in the context of examining BLER Europeanisation and understanding its process and the implications of actoral roles for this European institution in the making.

In Erne's framework, social actors can indeed promote two alternative kinds of European integration. On the one hand, they can promote a project of European democracy, by pursuing a Euro-democratisation strategy (Erne 2008: 23), namely the creation of a European public sphere, in which 'political leaders are obliged to legitimize their political actions', the promotion of 'European collective action' by recognising that 'they belong to a common polity', and the politicisation of 'EU-level decision making in a transnational public sphere', enabling social contestation and access to new actors (Erne 2008: 20; Zürn 2016: 168). On the other hand, social actors can conversely promote a project of Euro-technocracy, based on 'quiet politics' (Culpepper 2011), by adopting a Euro-technocratisation strategy. Such a strategy implies that they consider the decision-making sphere as 'apparently apolitical', purely technical and depoliticised, 'disconnected from partisan politics' and social conflict, and insiders capture the political process, preventing access to new actors (Erne 2008: 20).

Similarly, the EU, national legislators and courts, companies and trade unions at different levels can, with their action and strategies, contribute to make out of a Europeanised BLER a process that either resembles more a Euro-democratic project or, on the contrary, a Euro-technocratic one. It is within the choices of the actors to decide what kind of worker representation on boards should be promoted in an integrated EU.

This Working Paper analyses the institutional channels and intervening practice in the making of BLER as a transnational institution of industrial relations within MNCs in the five European Economic Area (EEA) countries in which such processes have been observed: Germany, Sweden, Norway, Denmark and France. Their implementation and implications are analysed by adopting an institutionalist and actor-focused perspective, combining interdisciplinary methods from corporate and labour law with a case study research design (Yin 1989: 23). The Working Paper draws on a diverse set of data, including a literature review, analysis of regulation and available case law, corporate documents and European works council (EWC) agreements, as well as fourteen expert interviews, two focus groups and notes of meetings with representatives.

The study reveals four main findings. First, varied combinations of regulatory settings and practice have developed in a rather uncoordinated and bespoke way to transnationalise BLER in these countries: from unilateral trade union co-option or *ad hoc* cross-border political arrangements to more elaborate

institutionalised solutions, depending on company-level negotiations, legal rules or managerial preferences. Second, while national institutional routes set out the ways of transnationalising BLER, they cannot always be traced back to Europeanisation: except for France and Denmark, the frameworks or practices in place were triggered by global competition, capitalist projects or corporate idiosyncrasies. Europe is not the main frame of reference. Third, the study reveals (very) limited implementation in practice. Except in France and, more timidly, in Norway, actors have rarely used the transnational solutions available. Fourth, when they have done so, trade unions and companies used their options unequally, more often to the strategic advantage of companies. Diverse domestic institutional frameworks partly explain these outcomes and entail different challenges for the actors involved.

Overall, none of the transnational routes found at national level have led to BLER Euro-democratisation. In the absence of EU rules, the processes of BLER transnationalisation which may be observed respond more either to an avoidance of Europe or to selective cross-border collaborations, at best involving Euro-technocratic strategies which, following Erne's framework, contribute to the making of a technocratic, as opposed to a democratic, kind of European institution of worker representation. Unless EU legislators and trade unions politicise the issue of BLER and proactively develop a coherent pan-European strategy, BLER Europeanisation is unlikely to develop in a democratic way.

Left to uncoordinated, indirect and flexible types of regulation, BLER Europeanisation develops as Euro-technocratisation and may erode existing codetermination systems to the disadvantage of workers, in the same vein as already identified in EWCs:

The first main problem is that they can be 'captured' by the actors they are intended to control; becoming an extension of the very interests they were meant to regulate. Second, (...) they may be open to bureaucratic inertia and fail to connect with their original purpose. (...) Finally, the very way such new forms of regulation have been developed may undermine their accountability and democratic status. Hence the new mechanisms may be transformed to function in ways unintended and unanticipated. (Martínez Lucio and Weston 2007: 187).

The possible contradictory usages of transnationalised BLER reflect the very political nature of worker representation emphasised by Martínez Lucio and Mustchin (2019). It seems long overdue to look at what a European framework could entail for the democratic dimension of BLER. Such a strategy should aim to secure regulatory certainties, transparent electoral procedures in MNCs, reinforced multi-level articulation with other instances of labour representation at EU and local levels and, finally, the protections and resources for worker representatives that will allow them to fulfil the functions of a European mandate adequately.

The Working Paper is structured as follows. Section 2 situates how far BLER has become an issue of European policy and presents some dead ends in the debate and in Europeanising solutions. After Section 3's focus on methodological considerations, Section 4 presents the country case studies, explaining the diversity of approaches found, their institutional workings and how the social actors have implemented them. Section 5 evaluates the findings in a comparative perspective, identifying some explanatory factors and implications for BLER systems and their potential Europeanisation, before some alternative avenues are explored in Section 6 towards a better articulated EU framework for BLER rights in MNCs. The conclusions synthesise the findings and elaborate recommendations for research, policymakers, EWCs and trade unions as a means of addressing some of the problems that could arise from a potential EU harmonised regulatory framework and existing trade union policies.

### 2. Partial policy efforts towards BLER Europeanisation

Conversely to EWCs, BLER rights have been little exposed to regulation, practice and debate at EU level since the 1970s. The European Commission's initial plans to harmonise them in the context of the European Company Statute were openly rejected by (some) countries (Davies 2003; Gold 2010). Differing historical, economic and socio-political contexts account for BLER not being institutionally anchored in all Member States, something which continues to be the case, while national trade union positions and practice around it are far from homogeneous (Conchon 2011: 22; Hyman 2016). EU legislation on codetermination requires Council unanimity so the political controversy lasted for decades, causing the so-called Fifth Corporate Law Directive to fail (Seifert 2017; Keller and Rosenbohm 2020), until a compromise on employee involvement was found with the 2001 SE Directive, based on the 'before-after' principle and negotiated agreements at individual company level. This flexible regulatory framework was taken as the point of reference for employee involvement rules in other EU corporate law instruments. The rules had limited scope and aimed mostly at safeguarding pre-existing national BLER standards where they existed, even though these were being opened up to more countries.

European employee representation on SE boards was based on seat allocations according to country interests (Lafuente Hernández 2019: 9), similar to EWC Directive 94/45/EC, where the bodies representing employees and negotiating EWC agreements were composed in line with national rules and practices, and on the basis of seat allocations by country. The subsidiary requirements echoed such federal solutions, largely aligned with an intergovernmentalist logic in EU integration theory (Moravcsik 1998; Bickerton et al. 2015). However, workers' seats on boards are much fewer than in EWCs, so a mere seat allocation could not ensure a power distribution across countries that sufficiently reflected territorial diversity. Already in EWCs, diverse national experiences had been considered an insufficient indicator of the proper European representation of employees (Béthoux 2009): with all the more reason, such a 'quantitative notion of Europeanization' (Rehfeldt 2013: 167) left a great deal to be desired in the context of BLER.

The European Trade Union Confederation (ETUC) and the European trade union federations (ETUFs) tried to develop broader political and qualitative understandings of the 'European mandate' on SE boards (Kluge 2008: 129; Conchon 2011: 38-39) so that SE worker directors<sup>6</sup> represented the whole European workforce beyond the narrow interests of their specific country or establishment (Rehfeldt 2013: 182). European mandates pose important political questions concerning representation (Pitkin 1967), yet representatives embodying these mandates do neither naturally cooperate with each other (Müller et al. 2011: 222) nor naturally have the skills to do so, despite their union credentials (Conchon 2014: 277).

On the one hand, a European Workers' Participation Fund was set up, fed with transfers from SE worker directors receiving remuneration for their board activity. The Fund was allocated to the ETUI to finance specialised training and expertise on worker participation at EU level (ETUC 2008; Stollt and Wolters 2011: 98-99). This mirrored the German system,<sup>7</sup> probably in an attempt to dampen the potential sieve-like effect of the SE framework on German (and, consequently, European) trade union resources. But the Fund also aimed to secure equal treatment, legitimation, political accountability and transparency for BLER within SEs, providing a direct financial resource to the European trade union movement. However, it was only linked to SEs, excluding other cross-border situations, where practice remained heterogeneous.

On the other hand, ETUC affiliates finally agreed to lobby for an EU directive on an integrated architecture for information, consultation and minimum standards on BLER rights according to a harmonised escalator approach<sup>8</sup> (ETUC 2016), going beyond the established 'before-after' principle. However, the proposal was limited to European company forms: MNCs covered by the EWC Directive or governed by national law (except when they explicitly resulted from an EU-regulated transaction) were excluded.

In brief, limited steps to Europeanise BLER have been adopted, but the logics of seat allocation and decentralisation to company level have prevailed both in EU and trade union policy, which has remained largely focused on SEs without attempting to achieve substantial changes in employee representation practices in MNCs governed by national law. I turn now to examine how, despite this nuanced preliminary account, BLER transnationalisation has emerged in national law and practice.

**<sup>6.</sup>** In this Paper, I refer to board-level employee representatives as worker directors indistinctively.

<sup>7.</sup> In Germany, the DGB's non-profit organisation Hans-Böckler-Stiftung (HBS) has received remuneration transfers from trade unionists sitting on German supervisory boards since it was established in 1977.

<sup>8.</sup> The ETUC Resolution proposes that at least two or three board-level employee representatives should seat in EU companies of between 50 and 250 employees, one-third participation should exist in those of between 250 and 1000 employees and parity boards in those of over 1000 employees.

### 3. Methodological considerations

## **3.1 Case study selection: internationalised economies and BLER at group level**

Aside of EU regulations, previous literature and research<sup>9</sup> points at five countries where the possibility for transnational BLER has permeated in MNCs: Germany, Sweden, Norway, Denmark and France. These countries thus constitute the case study selection for this research. All stand out as the most internationalised economies in the EEA, hosting numbers of corporate groups operating on a cross-border basis and with large numbers of employees abroad. Table 1 shows the degree of transnationalisation and Europeanisation of companies headquartered in these countries, which have national regulations on BLER rights at corporate group level. The level of transnationalisation can be measured both in terms of the number of companies with a presence abroad as well as in terms of the number of employees abroad.

These countries have also normalised BLER at group level (Hagen and Mulder 2013: 152) in their corporate and labour laws. This means that the scope of worker representation rights and institutions applies beyond the confines of the company as an individual corporate 'legal entity' *strictu sensu*: the notion of a group of undertakings is incorporated in their systems of industrial relations and collective labour rights so that employee representation rights can be established at group level, in works councils covering the whole group or in the parent board of a corporate group consisting of distinct legal entities, franchises, branches or establishments.<sup>10</sup>

When national participation systems set specific norms to acknowledge worker representation rights in a group of undertakings, then, the question on how to adapt this worker representation to the transnational character, structure and scope of operations of the group is more naturally addressed. Group-level institutions of worker representation and social dialogue are far from extended in Europe: legal definitions establishing employer liabilities and employee representation rights do not generally capture the increasingly

**<sup>9.</sup>** See, among others, Mulder (2017a) and Opinion of Advocate General Saugmandsgaard Øe in Case C-566/15, *Konrad Erzberger v TUI AG* before the Court of Justice of the EU (CJEU).

**<sup>10.</sup>** Branches or establishments are considered part of the same legal entity as their parent company.

normal reality of complex corporate multiple employer structures (Serrano Olivares 2016; Weil 2017; Lafuente et al. 2016; Ferreras 2017; Prassl 2015: 145). The EWC Directive was, in that regard, a ground-breaking exception in establishing an employee representation structure and collective rights within a European group of undertakings according to specific criteria. But there is no harmonised EU-wide definition of a group of undertakings, despite long-standing criticisms and proposed solutions (Embid Irujo 2005; Antunes 2005; Böckli et al. 2017). Share ownership, partnership interests or formal control agreements (as are found, for instance, in Konzerne) are often used to measure the influence and control of parent companies over subsidiaries, but legal definitions, case law criteria and their implications remain extremely diverse across countries and are under-explored in comparative labour law and industrial relations. The extension of employee representation rights to groups has generally depended on whether or not national corporate law traditions considered the interest of the whole group in their definition of the company interest (Böckli et al. 2017: 15).

National provisions for BLER at group level seem necessary for transnational BLER to exist in MNCs, but this condition is not sufficient: in Austria and The Netherlands, central or group works councils can appoint or nominate members to the supervisory board of the parent company of the group. Yet, no case of transnational BLER was found in those countries in our preliminary research and, consequently, they were excluded from the case study selection.

In Austria, BLER rights are rooted in labour law: the (central) works council is entitled to appoint members to the supervisory board of the group and, thus, the exercise of BLER rights arises from the right to vote or to be elected to the (central) works council of the Austrian parent company. According to the interpretation of private international law and the principle of territoriality set out within national jurisprudence in Austria (see Kalss 2004: 103-106), such a right is reserved to employees of Austrian subsidiaries when the group is transnational.

As for the Netherlands, a legal reform in 2004 (the so-called *Two-tier Structure Reform Act*) introduced an exemption from the Dutch system of participation for international holding companies, the majority of whose employees are located abroad (Windbichler 2005: 524; Cremers 2018: 104; Groenewald 2005: 296). Faced with the challenges of transnationality, the Dutch legislator thus opted for exclusion instead of, for instance, an expanded EWC role in the nomination of supervisory board members of transnational groups. Admittedly, BLER rights are weaker in the Netherlands than in the other countries analysed: the Dutch works council recommends one-third of the members of the supervisory board but they cannot be employees or trade unionists (Cremers 2018: 107). This peculiarity has already led other comparative studies of BLER to exclude The Netherlands from analysis (see Waddington and Conchon 2016: 221-222).

Sara Lafuente

### Table 1Outward activity of MNCs from countries with BLER regulations in corporate groups,<br/>by country of location

| Country     | World<br>(other than declaring country) |           | EU28      |           | BLER rights at group<br>level                                     | Transnational BLER<br>cases identified |
|-------------|---|-----------|-----------|-----------|---|--|
|             | Employees                               | Companies | Employees | Companies |   |  |
| Germany     | 5 739 631                               | 29 026    | 2 637 426 | 14 244    | Yes   | Yes                                    |
| Sweden      | 1 417 383                               | 17 634    | 660 528   | 9691      | Yes   | Yes                                    |
| Norway      | 277 498                                 | 4328      | 161 313   | 2848      | Yes   | Yes                                    |
| Denmark     | 1 160 150                               | 10 632    | 483 105   | 6264      | Yes   | Yes                                    |
| France      | 6 119 947                               | 46 529    | 2 375 113 | 22 054    | Yes   | Yes                                    |
| Netherlands | nd                                      | nd        | nd        | nd        | Yes, except holdings<br>with > 50 per cent of<br>employees abroad | No                                     |
| Austria     | 562 778                                 | 3831      | 382 697   | 2578      | Yes, but national   | No                                     |

Note: The table should be read as follows: 'According to OECD Statistics for 2016, 29 026 companies headquartered in Germany operated outside Germany, employing 5 739 631 workers worldwide other than in Germany. Of those, 14 244 companies operated in the EU28, with 2 637 426 employees'.

Source: Author's elaboration based on own research and OECD Statistics (Outward activity of multinationals by country of location – ISIC rev. 4 (data from 2016, for all business enterprise sectors. Last checked 26/7/2022).

#### 3.2 Methods, data collection, analysis

To pursue this research on BLER transnationalisation in MNCs, the study combines social sciences methods with the fields of labour and corporate law in an interdisciplinary qualitative design. It brings together previous scattered knowledge, completing and directing it where necessary with empirical research to build a comparative assessment of the national regulations and practice involved in this phenomenon. The study explores each case in context to reach comparable meaningful results across different country realities (Locke and Thelen 1995), using different sources of evidence, data collection and analysis strategies to adapt to the logics of local actors and their societal coherence as a path of discovery (Streeck 2001; Maurice et al. 1979). The primary and secondary data include a review of previous literature, jurisprudence and specialist studies and an analysis of legal regulations and case law when available,<sup>11</sup> as well as corporate documents, EWC agreements and expert interviews, building a multiple case design (Yin 1989).

The analysis and presentation of findings follow a two-step sequence in each country case. First, they focus on understanding the national labour and corporate law frameworks underpinning BLER rights, identifying the actors involved, their roles and the way in which BLER is structured in corporate

**<sup>11.</sup>** Legal traditions and the diverse embeddedness of BLER in the economy explain that case law on the matter is scarce or non-existent in some countries. While BLER is recent in France's private sector, Scandinavian countries reveal low levels of conflict on BLER matters (Hagen 2016) and rely on social partnership, negotiations at company level or conflict resolution structures before turning to the courts. This is converse to the situation in Germany.

groups, in order to understand how the transnational option is articulated in or excluded by the legal framework. The political context from which the transnational option emerged is also considered. This phase draws primarily on an analysis of legal frameworks, the prevailing jurisprudence, specialist studies and interviews to experts as internal informants of the systems.

Second, the analysis and presentation of findings address how (far) transnational solutions have been applied by employee representatives and companies in practice. This phase draws on the findings of previous studies (Hagen 2016; Lafuente 2022) and original analysis of corporate annual reports, statutes and governance information available on the corporate websites of the pioneer companies that have transnationalised BLER, as well as on fourteen interviews with specialists, two focus groups and expert meetings conducted between 2016 and 2022 with insider informants of the cases (i.e. the trade union advisors involved in negotiations, board-level employee representatives and, where relevant, European Works Council representatives). Preliminary conclusions are drawn from each case to feed a transversal comparison and discussion.

### 4. Bottom-up routes to transnationalise BLER: from ad hoc political arrangements to multi-level institutionalisation

This section presents each case study, focusing first on some key institutional elements to understand the BLER transnational solution, especially how MNCs and foreign<sup>12</sup> workforces are considered in institutional frameworks but also the specific context and public debate that shaped the emergence of the phenomenon. It then presents how the actors have applied solutions in practice, with reference to specific company cases where these could be identified.

The cases are presented following a progression in terms of the institutionalisation of the European dimension in BLER systems. The sequence starts from those cases where BLER transnationalisation is only possible by means of *ad hoc* cross-border political arrangements between trade unions depending on their will (starting with Germany where a heated debate closed the door on an institutional solution) and extends to those where the law sets more complex institutional arrangements turning BLER into a transnational institution, the case of France being exemplary as it has established an institutional solution articulating different levels of EU industrial relations. The sequence also brings closer those cases that share similar characteristics, namely those where trade unions have a more prominent role on the one hand (i.e. Germany, Sweden and Norway) and those where management and, crucially, shareholders have a special role on the other hand (i.e. Denmark and France), resulting in a sort of 'rainbow' display.

## 4.1 Germany: trade unions as gatekeepers of rare symbolic political arrangements

Germany counts the oldest codetermination system in force.<sup>13</sup> Employees are entitled to elect one-third of the members of the supervisory board in companies and groups of between 500 and 2000 employees and one-half of them in companies of over 2000 employees (1000 employees for companies in the iron, coal and steel sector). European and global economies were not as

**<sup>12.</sup>** 'Domestic' and 'foreign' refer to workers whose employment relationship is respectively governed by the laws of the headquarters' or another country's jurisdiction. The nationality of the representative is irrelevant for this study.

**<sup>13.</sup>** The Montan-Mitbestimmunggesetz and Mitbestimmunggesetz (Codetermination Act) were adopted in 1951 and 1976 respectively. The Drittelbeteiligungsgesetz (Third Participation Act) was last revised in 2004 although the original law dates back to 1952.

integrated as today when these systems were first introduced in the immediate post-WWII period, so the law neither explicitly foresaw nor excluded foreign subsidiaries from corporate groups' participation systems. However, the procedural character of German industrial relations has made it difficult afterwards to adapt the system to internationalisation without affecting some of its core elements. The prevailing German legal doctrine and case law have defended that BLER in German MNCs only covers workforces and subsidiaries in Germany. Such a restrictive interpretation of the territoriality principle and EU free movement rules has de facto excluded workers in foreign subsidiaries from election to German supervisory boards and from employee thresholds giving access to BLER.<sup>14</sup>

As EU integration and globalisation have developed, the unbalanced involvement of domestic and foreign employee representatives on the supervisory boards of German MNCs was increasingly seen as an unsettled problem of democracy, addressed in a polarised debate over the 'modernisation' of German codetermination (Biedenkopf et al. 2006; Hellwig and Behme 2009; Habersack et al. 2016; Krause 2016). A number of academics and shareholder activists have argued that the law should adapt to EU non-discrimination and free movement rules. Employer circles drafted a proposal to enable to extend the scope of group BLER to subsidiaries outside Germany by company agreements (Baums and Cahn 2009), but this never saw the light of day (Keijzer et al. 2017) as it encountered great opposition from trade unions, who argued for legal regulation (Hexel and Seyboth 2009:6). Concerned with the problem, German trade unions have supported pragmatic changes (e.g. extending by law the right of candidacy to employees outside Germany) rather than fundamental ones (such as a legal equal entitlement for all workforces to vote and run for office) (Dihn 1999: 996; Windbichler 2005; Hexel and Seyboth 2009:6). Fearing that fragmented supervisory boards and worldwide ballots could weaken (German) union power and BLER guarantees and protections overall (Windbichler 2000: 279; 2005: 521-524; Mulder 2017a: 98), German unions have, in practice, been more concerned with defending the status quo than with experimenting with inclusion. Admittedly, the Erzberger vs TUIAG case before the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU)<sup>15</sup> could have led to an imminent disapplication of German codetermination provisions, had a breach of EU law been confirmed, which explains why German trade unions have prioritised a defensive attitude.

Despite these apparent legal dead-ends, some *ad hoc* political compromises have allowed a few German supervisory boards to transnationalise, thanks to a German institutional peculiarity: in groups of over 2000 employees, German trade unions (i.e. their national federations) have the prerogative of nominating two or three members to the supervisory board. The candidates must be ratified by workforce elections in Germany – or by delegates in

<sup>14.</sup> For an account of the relevant German case law and jurisprudence on this matter, see Lafuente Hernández and Rasnača (2019).

**<sup>15.</sup>** Case C-566/15, *Konrad Erzberger v TUI AG* [2017] ECLI:EU:C:2017:562. For a critical analysis, see Lafuente Hernández and Rasnača (2019).

companies of over 8000 employees (Fulton 2021), but they are usually trade union officials proposed by the union. Through this channel, IG Metall has been able to introduce one foreign trade union representative to the workers' seats on the supervisory boards of two champion car manufacturers: DaimlerChrysler AG and Volkswagen AG.<sup>16</sup>

Daimler had circa 180 000 employees in Germany and Chrysler 170 000 in the US when the two merged in 1998.<sup>17</sup> By virtue of a political arrangement, IG Metall ceded one of its three seats (out of the ten seats assigned to workers) to a representative of the United Automobile Workers (UAW) (LA Times 1998; Daimler 2020: 109). Different share sales and spin-offs affected the position of the US DaimlerChrysler business within the group, leading the UAW member to step down from the supervisory board on different occasions, so the arrangement had only intermittent effects (Shields 2007; Adler 2021; Daimler 2021).

As for Volkswagen, a representative of the Swedish Metal Workers Union IF Metall in Scania AB was appointed to the supervisory board between November 2015 and 2020 on the IG Metall ticket (Volkswagen 2015a, 2015b and 2020: 17). In 2021, a representative of the Spanish Unión General de Trabajadores (UGT; General Union of Workers) from the main Seat plant followed (Volkswagen 2021). IG Metall lost one seat but kept control on who was nominated, co-opting foreign candidates based on brand and country relevance and on a political assessment of their individual trade union credentials, experience and social dialogue profile.<sup>18</sup> Nevertheless, co-option did not imply political accountability to IG Metall: tellingly, the newly appointed representative stated he would defend Seat workers in Spanish and Portuguese plants (Tejero 2021), confirming the plant competition reported in the automotive manufacturing sector (Hancké 2000; Fetzer 2008).

Opening large paritarian supervisory boards to one foreign trade unionist seems more of a symbolic gesture than a significant step towards making BLER a transnational institution in which collective identity or solidarity could develop across borders. Non-German employee interests remain too isolated in what are markedly German corporate and cultural contexts in terms of ownership, corporate governance and industrial relations. The bias in favour of German workers' interests has proved decisive in past transnational restructurings in Volkswagen (De Munck and Ferreras 2013: 404-405) and

**<sup>16.</sup>** IG BCE also introduced a foreign trade unionist in BayerCropScience (Windbichler 2005), but there is no confirmation that the arrangement is still in force. In coherence with the focus of this research on regulation and practice in MNCs governed by national law, expressly excluded here are cases of transnational BLER in German SEs, which amounted to at least 48 in 2017, as analysed elsewhere (Lafuente Hernández 2019).

<sup>17.</sup> For a detailed history of the DaimlerChrysler case, see Dinh (1999).

**<sup>18.</sup>** IG Metall's criterion was not only the geographical distribution of the workforce: in 2019, Seat counted fewer employees (15 000) than Skoda (35 000) but still got a member in the supervisory board; on the other hand Scania did not operate only in Sweden when it got a BLER seat in the supervisory board of Volkswagen AG, which complicates the picture of what 'fair' employee representation could mean in such a case.

involving one foreign representative seems unlikely to revert such established path-dependent dynamics. In Volkswagen, the pressure on the company's institutional configurations (Whittall et al. 2017: 400) and on German codetermination following the 2015 scandal of manipulated emissions tests (Elson et al. 2015) might well have played a role in the imminent replacement on the supervisory board of a resigning IG Metall member by a Swedish representative.

In conclusion, voluntary political arrangements between German and foreign trade unions were rare, limited, not automatic and rather unstable, mostly explained by idiosyncratic circumstances linked with restructurings, the specific distribution or concentration of the foreign workforce and cross-border trade union partnerships. The initiative came from German trade unions, at a political cost to them. Theoretically, at best three seats could be offered to foreign representatives but always depending on electoral ratification by the German workforce.<sup>19</sup> Workers from foreign subsidiaries still cannot participate in elections. The status and protection of foreign employee representatives and candidates remain uncertain as German rules are not binding abroad.

Under such conditions, transnational BLER seems only conceivable where consolidated social dialogue exists in a foreign subsidiary and the foreign representative is already a trade union official or employee representative with protections granted by her local labour laws. German trade unions thus conduct careful preselection, acting as the gatekeepers of BLER transnationalisation. Symptomatically, the currently recorded EWC agreements in neither Volkswagen nor Daimler include a reference to BLER (ETUI 2021b), indicating the procedures were not negotiated with the European sphere as a reference.<sup>20</sup>

## 4.2 Sweden: BLER 'Scandinavisation' as a condiment of Nordic capitalist projects

In Sweden, the right of workers to demand employee representation on corporate boards was legally established in 1976,<sup>21</sup> long before Sweden entered the EU (in 1995). This legislative intervention was exceptional in a system that

**<sup>19.</sup>** A lack of electoral support prevented the transnational composition of BLER at Deutsche Telekom where the German union ver.di had nominated a representative of the Communications Workers of America (CWA) (Windbichler 2005: 521).

**<sup>20.</sup>** Volkswagen's EWC agreement predated the establishment of transnational BLER although DaimlerChrysler renegotiated its agreement later, in 2010. In both cases, negotiations could have taken place when the decision to transnationalise BLER was adopted, giving rise to addendums or discussion about a potential EWC role in appointing or nominating non-German representatives to the supervisory board. Yet, this was not the case according to this research study.

<sup>21.</sup> Law 1976:351 on employee representation on boards of companies and economic associations, and Law 1976:355 covering banks and insurance companies, derogated by Law 1987:1245 on board representation of private-sector employees as in force.

has usually relied on consensual dialogue, employee participation practice and union influence at workplace and company level (Movitz and Palm 2018). The law set an escalator rule. In companies with at least 25 employees, employees are entitled to two representatives on the board with voting rights and two substitutes to participate in board meetings; in companies active in more than one industry and/or with at least 1000 employees, three board level representatives and three substitutes are to be appointed, without ever reaching a majority of seats (Rose 2008: 224). When the company is a parent of a group, group employees are counted in the thresholds and represented by employee representatives sitting on the parent board (Fulton 2021). The law has remained silent regarding workers from foreign subsidiaries but, conversely to Germany, no restrictive national case law has prevented their inclusion in the participation system or in the employee thresholds.

Historically, BLER was not a priority in Sweden compared to local negotiations on wages, working conditions and job protection (Mulder 2017b: 279) and unions did not push for it in the public debate, despite options for legal improvement (Movitz and Palm 2018). The reasons are at least twofold. First, BLER is not automatic in Sweden. Local unions have to demand it, which implies in practice a cost-benefit evaluation on their side. Second, employee representatives are legally excluded from board meetings or committees when the issues being discussed concern regular management affairs or when they conflict with the union's interest in collective bargaining or strikes. Thus, unions often prefer not to establish BLER, exchanging it instead for other benefits (Skog and Sjöman 2014: 266), as the steady decline in BLER numbers in Sweden suggests (Hagen 2020: 64).

Board-level employee representatives and their substitutes receive their normal pay as employees : additional board remuneration is a rare exception. Representatives are, however, given the necessary paid time-off to prepare for board meetings in their normal condition as employee representatives (Fulton 2021).

Transnationalising BLER runs against the tide given the pivotal role played by local trade unions, much more so in Sweden than in other Nordic countries. The so-called Swedish 'trade union connection' (Levinson 2001) is based on a strong and broadly accepted single-channel model in which unions are recognised as holding a monopoly on employee representation at the workplace and on company boards (Movitz and Palm 2018). It is the local union, bound by a collective agreement with the company, which decides whether or not to install BLER in a company or group, who to appoint and how to do so – for example, directly by the local union or by election at union meetings, councils, committees or among affiliates (Levinson 2001: 270). In brief, establishing a transnational BLER in a Swedish group requires a proactive role and the acquiescence of local unions who are, however, less likely to have a cross-border vision of the MNC and worker representation, as well as of union networks, in comparison to national union confederations.

Yet, two cases have been identified in the Swedish aviation and banking sectors in which BLER has been internationalised: Scandinavian Airlines System (SAS); and Nordea.<sup>22</sup>

SAS, one of the 'multi-flag' airlines that proliferated in the second half of the twentieth century, remained for a long time state-controlled in an otherwise generally liberalised and privatised global civil aviation industry.<sup>23</sup> Headquartered in Sweden, SAS resulted from a consortium between Sweden, Denmark and Norway in the early 1950s. This three-country ownership was reflected in workforces, management positions, investment distribution and a multinational board composition (Amankwah-Amoah et al. 2017; SAS 1957-1960). Today, the board counts 11 members, three (plus two deputies each) of which are employees elected by the corresponding employee organisations in Sweden, Denmark and Norway, in correspondence with each country's legislation and in line with a historical agreement (SAS 2016-2019 and SAS 2020: §6). The transnational BLER experiment here is thus constrained to the Nordic countries involved in the consortium and results from the distribution of national political interests and an active corporate strategy since the late 1990s to stamp Scandinavian culture and identity as an asset when competing in the global market (Amankwah-Amoah et al. 2017; Marklund 2017).

As for Nordea, it was one of the first to announce its conversion into an SE in 2004 although ultimately this never happened due to difficulties with transferring national deposits and banking liabilities (ILO 2004; Keller and Werner 2008: 172; Patra 2009: 184). Nordea is a unique pan-Nordic corporate structure known for its strong cross-national union cooperation via a Group Council including representatives from the different countries, a union umbrella body (the Nordea Union Board) and a sort of EWC called the 'Nordea Forum'. In 1998, when the Finnish and Swedish banks Merita plc and Nordbanken Holding AB (publ) merged into MeritaNordbanken plc (later Nordea), the local unions – supported by their national unions – negotiated a cooperation agreement with central management so that employee representatives from countries where the bank operated could have a seat on the board. Thus, transnational BLER was established in Nordea before the SE Directive was even adopted.

At first, BLER counted one representative from Sweden and one from Finland (MeritaNordbanken 1998) but, following successive restructurings, Danish and Norwegian representatives were added so that, in 2002, three full members and one rotating deputy represented all four Nordic countries (Nordea 2000-2002 and Nordea 2016). Nordea moved its seat to Finland in 2018, but the BLER system was retained by agreement between a Special

**<sup>22.</sup>** According to Dinh, Ford's purchase of Volvo's automotive facilities did not lead to any union arrangement on BLER internationalisation because the operation was a transfer of assets and not a merger (Dinh 1999: 995).

<sup>23.</sup> Today, SAS is only partly state-owned, with only 43% of shares and voting rights belonging to the four Nordic states. See https://www.sasgroup.net/investor-relations/the-share/ shareholders/

Sara Lafuente

Negotiating Body and management in the application of the transposed EU cross-border merger rules on employee participation (Nordea 2017; Nordea 2020: 49). However, the Finnish law is less protective of BLER than the Swedish so a loss of rights could follow in the future.<sup>24</sup>

In conclusion, local trade unions do have the possibility to reach arrangements with management and foreign unions, but BLER transnationalisation is only an exception in Sweden. When it has occurred, it responded more precisely to a BLER 'Scandinavisation' than to a Europeanisation: it was established as an identity condiment to very specific Nordic corporate strategies aimed at competing better in the global market, in line with the Nordic approach identified in studies on transnational union cooperation and action (Larsson et al. 2012).

## 4.3 Norway: The world as a space to negotiate BLER in transnational groups

In Norway, BLER rights were legally established in 1972.<sup>25</sup> In companies from 30 to 199 employees, a majority of employees must support a demand to install BLER (by vote, signatures or the representative local union) before being entitled to appoint either: 1) one representative and one observer, in companies between 30 and 50 employees; or 2) one-third of board members, but never less than two members (even on a five-member board), in companies with more than 50 employees. In companies of over 200 employees, employees are directly entitled to elect one-third of board members without a prior vote,<sup>26</sup> which can explain the higher BLER coverage in large companies than in small ones despite an observed low interest and decrease in implementation rates (Hagen 2015: 85; Hagen 2017; Hagen 2020: 64; Lekvall 2014: 78). BLER in this category of companies is compulsory and automatic, an exception in Scandinavian countries (Hagen and Mulder 2013: 141). BLER usually emerges in companies with a pre-existing functioning social dialogue (Hagen 2016: 18) and involves local unions, although they do not have exclusive representation rights. Worker directors have the same rights and obligations as any other board member.

**<sup>24.</sup>** This case deserves deeper longitudinal analysis evaluating the impact of cross-border corporate mobility on BLER.

**<sup>25.</sup>** Law No. 44 of 13 June 1997 on private limited companies (Articles 6.4, 6.5 and 6.35) and Law No. 45 of 13 June 1997 on public limited companies (Articles 6.4, 6.5 and 6.37) contain the main provisions in force with their respective implementing regulations. Similar norms exist for the public sector.

**<sup>26.</sup>** In theory, the election corresponds to a corporate assembly composed of shareholders and one-third employee representatives, but management and trade unions usually agree not to establish such a corporate assembly. Election rights pass to the whole workforce which gains one additional board member and two observers in compensation (Fulton 2021; Knudsen and Norvik 2014: 210, 233-234). In practice, the candidates of local trade unions representing more than half of the workforce and acting in concert are more likely to be elected (Evju 2002: 7).

In terms of BLER transnationalisation, the Norwegian institutional channel is permissive. Management and employees<sup>27</sup> can negotiate with great autonomy<sup>28</sup> in setting a BLER system at group level. If such a group arrangement exists, the group BLER system automatically covers the parent company and the subsidiaries it controls all over the world without distinction. The employees of Norwegian subsidiaries do not then elect representatives to the board of their subsidiary, but instead participate in the election of the parent company board representatives (Hagen and Svarstad 2021: 14). Employees of foreign subsidiaries or branches have full rights of involvement in the group participation system, even beyond EEA countries: they can vote and be eligible for the Norwegian parent company board (Mulder 2017a). However, since 2018, management and employees are entitled to agree on the exclusion of some (foreign) subsidiaries from the arrangement without the obligatory intervention of the Industrial Democracy Tribunal (Hagen 2016: 5). The current Dispute Resolution Board will only intervene and decide if they disagree on the scope.29

In unique research, Hagen has examined how and to what extent transnational group arrangements had been implemented (Hagen 2016), especially since they were expected to increase after the legal change in 2014 (Hagen and Mulder 2013). However, not all Norwegian groups have negotiated group arrangements and certainly not all have transnational operations, so Hagen singled out 24 Norwegian groups fulfilling both criteria (i.e. BLER group arrangement and transnationality) from an estimate of 5000 groups of over 30 employees which had foreign subsidiaries.<sup>30</sup>

Hagen found that group arrangements were usually triggered in the context of restructurings where the foreign workforce or ownership were significant, and sometimes at managerial initiative. Transnational group arrangements could still discriminate against foreign subsidiaries but, quite simply, the requirement for Tribunal approval since 2014 made this harder. This may, however, have shifted after the latest legal changes. Quite tellingly, Hagen observed that those groups choosing to cover only some foreign subsidiaries in their group arrangement tended to be unionised and also to include Nordic

<sup>27.</sup> Generally the local union or, if none is present, a majority of employees (Hagen 2016).

<sup>28.</sup> Regulation No. 850 of 20 June 2014, later amended by Regulation No. 1277 of 24 August 2017.

**<sup>29.</sup>** The Industrial Democracy Tribunal *(Bedriftsdemokratinemnda)* had a historical role in the system: based on social partnership and governed by the Ministry of Labour, this institution had originally to ratify group arrangements. Then, its role was reduced to doing no more than approving exemptions and finally, since 2018, in view of the declining number of disputes before the Tribunal and the political will to increase the autonomy of local parties (Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs 2017), its remaining dispute resolution competences were transferred to the Dispute Resolution Board (*Tvisteløsningsnemnda*), governed by the Working Environment Act.

**<sup>30.</sup>** See Hagen (2016) for the detailed methodology. Boards with fewer than five members were discarded from her sample (i.e. with fewer than two employee representatives) to isolate cases were BLER could involve two different nationalities. However, a BLER with one single member could also entail a transnational dimension provided that all workers across the group participate in the election to grant her a transnational mandate.

subsidiaries while those including foreign subsidiaries without distinction had no union presence. Actually, nearly half of the 24 cases had no trade union presence, suggesting that unions are not necessarily facilitating transnational negotiations. In previous research, Hagen and Mulder had already identified 15 of these Norwegian groups with transnational BLER,<sup>31</sup> noting that 'most of these companies have weak trade unions or none at all' (Hagen and Mulder 2013: 154).

This leads to a discussion of the role and capacity of trade unions. Seemingly, they have not always been proactive in establishing transnational group representation either because of the lack of a global perspective or a lack of interest in or a resistance to involving foreign subsidiaries indiscriminately, fearing a loss of control over BLER politics. The herculean task of negotiating and implementing BLER transnationally requires 'strong trade unions or enthusiasts in Norway' (Hagen 2016: 9-10), with sufficient resources and contacts across borders to organise transnational elections. Also, local trade unions may consider that giving up a seat outside Norway weakens labour's position. From that rationale, they may prefer leaving it to headquarter representatives with privileged access to information and influence (Hagen 2015: 93; Hagen 2016: 15, 16), who can act as 'advocates for the diaspora' (Kotthoff 2006). They may also prefer to include only those foreign subsidiaries with a well-established social dialogue, strong trade unions and local protections for employee representatives, and with which they have a cultural connection or a history of collaboration.

Overall, trust and the expectation of continuity in BLER dynamics seem the key factors over which insiders prefer the strategic preselection of their possible partners in the workers' seats. This echoes union rationales observed in the Swedish and German cases.

On the other hand, foreign employees and unions are not in a position to promote the process, given their limited knowledge of Norwegian rules and access to central management. To illustrate, Hagen found only one case where the initiative came from foreign employees, while EWCs were not even discussing the issue of BLER group arrangements in the cases concerned (Hagen 2016: 16). This reveals a gap in articulation between arenas of employee representation in transnational groups. While at national level BLER seemed connected to an already functioning social dialogue in the company, BLER at transnational level has no equivalent industrial relations framework from which to emerge (Hagen 2016: 18). Yet, central managements seem increasingly interested in promoting group arrangements, even when this implies installing transnational BLER (or perhaps precisely because of that). Hagen could not ascertain a managerial strategy to weaken pre-established local trade unions but, as she points out, it is not ruled out that transnational

**<sup>31.</sup>** Namely Orkla, EDB Ergogroup, Rocksource, Roxar, Datarespons, Pronova BioPharma, Imarex, Nordic Paper, Kraft Foods, Norwegian Energy Company, Veritas, Component Software Group, Fast Search and Transfer, Andvord Tybring-Gjedde and Moelven.

group arrangements have indirect effects in terms of preventing local unions from controlling BLER systems in the future.

Finally, how are BLER electoral procedures implemented in these transnational cases? In Norway, once a group BLER system is set up, a local election board composed of management and employee representatives decides how to run the elections and how to divide constituencies across the transnational group, as well as the practicalities of the voting (e.g. whether or not to establish electronic voting, which is possible under the Norwegian system) according to specific provisions.<sup>32</sup> Foreign electoral rules can apply where foreign constituencies are established, but Hagen's study reported frequent technical difficulties in implementing electoral processes abroad, as well as disputes over seats between trade unions from different countries (Hagen 2016: 13).

To conclude, the institutional path to making BLER transnational seems more developed in Norway than in other countries. Even so, the permissive institutional framework is not exempt in practice either from challenges or from uncertainties regarding local unions and foreign workforces, and the findings from Hagen's studies call for caution when evaluating empirical implementation. The transnational BLER cases have developed independently of Europeanisation dynamics: they have rather followed the cross-border geographical configuration of corporate groups, as defined by negotiations between management and local unions, often with a Nordic preference.

## 4.4 Denmark: BLER Europeanisation in shareholders' hands

In Denmark, BLER rights were introduced in 1973<sup>33</sup> after an intense public debate on workplace democracy. With EU integration on its way, conservatives feared that Denmark would be forced to adopt a parity codetermination system similar to the German one so they accepted a formula in which unions were formally kept out of appointment procedures (Rose 2008). The Danish industrial relations system is strongly based on social partnership; consequently, rooting BLER in hard law kept it separate from other levels of workplace interest representation, especially cooperation committees and unions (HBS 2017).

As with small and medium companies in Norway, the right to install BLER is not automatic but must first be demanded by 10 per cent of employees or equivalent trade union representatives, then obtain the support of most

**<sup>32.</sup>** Regulation No. 1277 of 24 August 2017.

**<sup>33.</sup>** Law 371 of 13 June 1973 on public limited companies, revised by Law 470 of 12 June 2009 on public and private limited companies (Companies Act) (Articles 140, 141 and 142) and by Edict No. 344 of 30 March 2012 on employee representation in public and private limited liability companies to regulate voting procedures.

employees in a preliminary ballot. Only then can elections be organised by and among employees to elect board representatives. The gap between BLER and workplace representation and the complex three-step procedure explains why, except in large industrial companies, employee representation on Danish boards is less frequent than could be expected (Hansen and Lønfeldt 2014: 150; Gregoric and Poulsen 2017). Again, unions need to be well organised at group level and to evaluate whether the potential gains provide sufficient compensation for the effort to start the process (Fauerholdt 2014). In Danish public and private limited companies with at least 35 employees, employees can elect representatives and alternates for up to one-third of the board on the basis of at least two members (or three, if BLER is at parent company level). The representatives have in principle the same rights and obligations as other members but, as in Sweden, they cannot take part in decisions directly concerning workers' interests (Fulton 2021).

Since its transposition of the Cross-border Mergers Directive, Danish law has made it possible to include in the BLER system any subsidiaries and branches located within the EEA (Mulder 2017a). Indeed, the definition of 'employees' for the purposes of BLER (Articles 140 and 141 of the Companies Act) includes those from foreign branches and subsidiaries. However, according to the Danish Business Authority (2011), they are not counted in employee thresholds or as part of the 10 per cent of the workforce entitled to demand BLER in a Danish group: only the workforce within Denmark can decide to install BLER in an initial ballot. Then, it is for shareholders in their general meeting to decide whether, and which, foreign subsidiaries in EEA countries can be included in the system, regardless of the opinions of labour (Köstler 2017: 4). This is a condition for employees from foreign subsidiaries to be entitled to participate in elections.

The applicable electoral procedure (Edict 2012, Paragraph 48) establishes that the workforce in Denmark retains at least one BLER seat, or two if the Danish workforce exceeds 10 per cent of the group total. Similar to Norway, an election committee composed of management and employee representatives is in charge of organising the elections but this can be appointed either by a cooperation committee with a union presence or by management (Fulton 2021). The independence of the elections has been called into question (HBS 2017) given the decisive roles played by the general shareholder meeting and by management.

Only two cases of BLER Europeanisation have been recorded in Denmark, both at Grundfos group.<sup>34</sup> The Danish company Grundfos A/S already had BLER installed at local level before two new group BLER systems involving

**<sup>34.</sup>** According to testimony from CO-industri, the Danish Business Authority does not have a register but has not received questions from any company on how to implement these rules, which indicates their very infrequent use. Hagen and Mulder (2013: 155) allude to Carlsberg as an example of where foreign (i.e. Scandinavian) employees were included in a group arrangement for board participation. However, we could not find more information in the literature or on Carlsberg's website and in its annual reports.

foreign subsidiaries were set up in 2012, namely at Grundfos Holding and at the Poul Due Jensen Foundation. Each of these two boards has 12 members, four of which are elected by employees. Foreign representatives occupy one seat in the holding company and two in the Foundation<sup>35</sup>. All three were elected among and by EU/EEA-based employees of the Grundfos group, while their Danish colleagues sitting in the same boards were elected among and by the Danish workforce (Grundfos 2012-2020).

In the context of a major group restructuring exercise, management informally suggested establishing two BLER systems at the top of the structure, also involving foreign subsidiaries, and Danish local unions supported the idea. Danish employees agreed in the preliminary ballots, a general shareholder meeting agreed that the EEA subsidiaries should be covered (at the board's recommendation) and then two election committees were appointed, one for each board election. Online voting was organised on the group's intranet in Europe, in which all employees could vote, campaign and run for election following the same Danish rules.

The procedure has raised legal questions. According to international law, national electoral rules should apply in each country and electronic voting – although admittedly efficient for transnational group elections – is not constitutional everywhere,<sup>36</sup> especially not when implemented by management. Surprisingly, the EWC established at Grundfos did not play any role in the process and local unions have identified other problems: foreign BLER representatives did not always have equal access to the resources to fulfil their new role adequately (e.g. time-off, union connections or translation). Not all members speak English and so language issues may cut off shopfloor representatives from access to the board. All in all, unions did not consider the experience as a success, according to respondents interviewed for this research.

Finally, Danish law does not entitle board members to remuneration but, if the general shareholder meeting fixes remuneration for board members, this also applies to employee representatives as they have the same rights and obligations. According to Danish case law, remuneration can be different if justified by differences in the amount or type of work (Krüger Andersen 2004: 19). From our research, however, it could not be determined whether policies existed on the transfer of such resources to unions or how these

**36.** The judgement of 3 March 2009 of the German Constitutional Court (Bundesverfassungsgericht, Docket Nos. 2 BvC 3/07 & 2 BvC 4/07) considered the Federal Voting Machine Regulation (Bundeswahlgeräteverordnung 1975) unconstitutional for not requiring transparent control mechanisms to grant the accuracy of vote counts in electronic voting in the 2005 federal elections. In this direction, while the rules were amended during the Covid-19 crisis to allow works councils meetings by phone or video (e.g. new §129 on the Betriebsverfassungsgesetz), the DGB preferred to postpone supervisory board elections rather than conduct them by post or electronically (Sick and Gieseke 2020).

**<sup>35.</sup>** The representatives are from Germany in the holding company, and Germany and Hungary in the Foundation.

Sara Lafuente

might have affected foreign employee representatives in transnational BLER situations.

In brief, despite the regulatory opportunity to open up BLER in Denmark to foreign subsidiaries, the option is underused and limited, partly due to the flaws in the Danish BLER system itself. Although the framework has, in a number of ways, been influenced by Europe and refers to subsidiaries in the EEA, it does not secure a Euro-democratic type of process in BLER transnationalisation in line with Erne's analytical framework, as explained in Section 1. Full protections and guarantees are not provided in the process.<sup>37</sup> The activation of rights depends on the Danish workforce – who always retain at least one seat, irrespective of electoral preferences or workforce distribution – and the general shareholder meeting ultimately decides on the cross-border scope for BLER. Extreme efforts are required from labour to coordinate transnationally and with no evident successes.

## 4.5 France: a new role for European Works Councils decided by shareholders

BLER rights were recognised for several decades in French state-owned and privatised companies<sup>38</sup> before being extended to French private companies with at least 1000 employees in France or 5000 worldwide.<sup>39</sup> However, BLER is still regarded with caution by some trade unions and has historically taken a secondary position in the French employee participation system compared to collective bargaining or the provision of information and consultation (Géa 2020: 106).

Since 2013, large French public limited companies have been legally obliged to have one employee representative with voting rights on the board, or two, depending on board size.<sup>40</sup> A sustained academic and political debate on corporate reform had led to such an *acquis*, building a strong case for employee involvement in corporate governance (Beffa and Clerc 2013; Conchon 2014; Favereau and Roger 2015; Notat and Senard 2018; Segrestin and Vernac 2018; Crifo and Rebérioux 2019; Rehfeldt 2019; Bourgeois et al. 2021).

BLER in the private sector came together with the possibility of BLER transnationalisation. The worldwide workforce had to be taken into account to

**<sup>37.</sup>** Ironically, the Danish Business Authority provided global capital investors with an English translation of the Danish Companies Act but did not translate Edict 2012 or the 2011 Guidelines which are key to running BLER elections in multinational Danish groups operating in the EEA.

**<sup>38.</sup>** Law 1983-675 of 16 July on the democratisation of the public sector.

**<sup>39.</sup>** Law 2013-504 of 14 June on safeguarding employment, modified by Law 2015-994 of 17 August on social dialogue and employment.

**<sup>40.</sup>** See Auzero (2013) and Koehl (2020: 239) for detailed analysis and the scope of application of BLER rules in the French private sector.

reach the thresholds for BLER rights and a general shareholder meeting had the right to decide on the appointment of BLER members from among four legal modalities:<sup>41</sup> 1) staff elections in France; 2) appointment by the French (group) works council; 3) appointment by the most representative trade union organisations in the social elections in France; or 4) appointment of a second representative (among employees in France or abroad) by the EWC or SE-WC while the first member remained subject to election or appointment via any of the previous channels. In other words, the general shareholder meeting could rely on a European institution of employee representation, if present, to grant a European mandate to the second BLER member in large French MNCs. While such a role is typical in SEs with BLER, the EWC Directive did not foresee EWCs appointing BLER members in 'regular' MNCs.

A recent legal change<sup>42</sup> has broadened the sample of companies for which this fourth modality of appointment has been possible. Groups with BLER obligations must now appoint two board-level employee representatives when their board is over eight members (instead of 12, as before), excluding worker representatives. The ETUI conducted systematic research on 132 French companies with EWCs/SE-WCs (ETUI 2021b), collecting and analysing data from corporate websites, official statutes (Infogreffe 2021) and EWC/SE-WC agreements on a series of variables<sup>43</sup> to examine how far EWCs/SE-WCs were involved in appointing BLER members and what implications this novelty entailed.<sup>44</sup>

The findings indicate that French MNCs were interested in this fourth modality: when a second BLER member had to be appointed and an EWC was present, companies generally preferred to rely on the EWC than on other options. EWCs tended to appoint foreign (sometimes non-European) representatives instead of French ones, although technically they could opt to grant a 'symbolic' transnational mandate to a French representative.<sup>45</sup>

The ETUI's study reveals a process of BLER Europeanisation in France which also introduced uncertainties and tensions into the system. EWCs

**<sup>41.</sup>** Article L225-27-1 of the French Commercial Code. The company's statutes must reflect the chosen modality. Such ways of appointment do not apply to companies with BLER rights established by previous laws applicable to the public sector, privatised companies or according to voluntary BLER in the private sector. In those cases, staff elections in France remain the rule. See Lafuente (2022).

**<sup>42.</sup>** Law 2019-486 of 22 May 2019 on the growth and transformation of firms; the so-called 'PACTE law'.

**<sup>43.</sup>** For a detailed account of this empirical research and its methodology, see Lafuente (2022).

**<sup>44.</sup>** For the comparative purposes of this Paper, French SEs are excluded from the statistics to keep the focus exclusively on MNCs governed by national law, as in the other country cases. Thus, only French cases involving EWCs are considered.

**<sup>45.</sup>** In the sample of 132 French companies, 41 cases involved either an EWC or an SE-WC in the appointment of the second BLER member, but only nine were SEs. So, 32 companies did grant this role to an EWC aside of any influence of the SE Directive transposition rules. Of these 32, the nationality of the second BLER member could be identified in 21 cases and 16 were not French: nine were from countries with codetermination traditions and seven from countries without, including Canada.

rarely anticipated their new role or negotiated on it. In only a few exceptional cases did agreements address the issue, most often in SEs as they are bound to include provisions on employee involvement.<sup>46</sup> Sometimes, minutes of meetings or the internal rules of procedure of the EWC or the board of the company treated the issue in less formal ways. According to interviews with representatives, management was often proactive in setting ad hoc procedures to appoint the second BLER member, suggesting candidates or taking part in their preliminary selection to ensure their 'fit' to the requirements of the board. This can be explained by an urgency to comply with the PACTE law's tight deadline of six months to appoint a second BLER following the general shareholder meeting which had modified the company statutes. It has often been hard for trade unions to find candidates, too: French law obliges BLER members to resign from other representative mandates in the company, reducing options for nominating experienced representatives and creating problems of replacement elsewhere. Managerial proposals were often accepted as a pragmatic way out of these problems and of political crossborder competition for the seat.

Moreover, EWCs had generally been caught off guard. They lacked information (especially foreign representatives) about the possibility of appointing a BLER member. In some cases, French representatives were sceptical of BLER and had not previously pushed for it, so it was EWC involvement that triggered the instalment of BLER, allowing domestic and foreign representatives to experiment with it at the same time. In other cases, French representatives were reluctant to give up an existing BLER seat to a foreign colleague: management could deprive 'uncomfortable' French trade unions from their role in appointment by giving it to the EWC. Finally, companies generally forced the new foreign BLER members to quit other representative mandates including those outside France, a broad interpretation which is not supported by literal and systematic interpretations of the law (Vernac 2022) but which reveals a pervasive managerial mistrust of the role of employee representatives on the board. Case law has not clarified the cross-border application of the prohibition on combining mandates under French law, but foreign representatives have not usually contested managerial interpretations either: they have generally accepted their new role with prudent curiosity under the conditions imposed, awaiting opportunities to learn and act in the future.

To conclude, French national law has devised a unique institutional route to transnationalise BLER: not only do the thresholds on mandatory BLER take account of employees worldwide but the general shareholder meeting can make the EWC/SE-WC responsible for appointing a second (French or foreign) BLER member, a legal option that has been actively used by companies and EWCs mostly to appoint foreign representatives. However, EWCs have been underprepared for their new role.

**<sup>46.</sup>** Out of the 60 EWC/SE-WC agreements analysed, only 10 had established BLER with five of them being SEs even though the larger sample only included nine SEs in total.

The expanding BLER Europeanisation observed in France is largely dependent on shareholder decision and the influence of management which, all too often, has retained the upper hand in the process of the selection of candidates and in the dynamics of the board. This has been favoured by an institutional framework in which BLER members are cut off from other representative mandates in the company, have very minor levels of representation and face both a determining role of shareholders and a prevalent culture of mistrust.

### 5. Transversal comparative findings

The countries examined in this Paper articulate transnational BLER in varied and complex institutional ways, revealing significant path dependencies. The historical point when codetermination laws were adopted, the differences in legal systems, industrial relations and codetermination, and the position of actors and of national economies within the global and EU integrated market explain such diversity and how the discussion on transnationalisation has been framed. Section 5.1 presents the findings from a comparison of national institutional frameworks followed in Section 5.2 by a comparative analysis on their implementation and the implications for actors.

#### 5.1 Diverse institutional frameworks

Following Hagen's analytical framework (Hagen 2016: 4), the routes for BLER transnationalisation vary according to the institutional foundation of the BLER system at company level (i.e. how BLER has been established and its scope decided) and of the BLER mandates (i.e. who are the representatives and how they are appointed). Both aspects can be rooted in collective agreements, laws, voluntary choice or a combination of regulatory sources, depending on diverse and hard-to-dissect intertwined institutional conundrums at country level. The thresholds and conditions for access to BLER rights vary, as do the number or proportion of the worker directors and actors involved, as well as the level and form in which they may intervene (i.e. they may decide on the installation of the cross-border BLER system, the method of appointment and/or the specific members appointed).

In Germany and Sweden, the transnational scope of BLER bears the unilateral political decision of (national or local) trade unions, meaning that the whole framework clearly gravitates around the national or local level respectively, whereas in Norway it depends on negotiation between employees or local trade unions and central management to set a by default cross-border group arrangement in MNCs. There, the transnational scope of the group more easily becomes the level of reference – although it is up to the local actors to select a more constrained, yet still cross-border, territorial scope if they so desire. Europe seems rather absent from these three frameworks as an explicit level of regulatory reference. In the other cases, the employer ultimately decides whether, and which, EEA foreign subsidiaries are included in the group BLER system (in Denmark) or whether the EWC shall appoint one BLER member (in France). The EEA scope is an explicit institutional option left in the hands of

the employer, particularly in Denmark whose EU adhesion and transposition of EU corporate law significantly shaped the domestic regulation. Table 2 summarises these comparative findings.

| Table 2 | Routes towards transnational BLER in MNCs according to institutional frameworks, by country |
|---------|---|
|---------|---|

| Country:                    |   | Germany  | Sweden   | Norway  | Denmark  | France   |
|-----------------------------|---|--|--|---|--|--|
| Decisive level intervening: |   | HC (national)  | HC (local)   | Global  | EEA  | EEA  |
| System                      | Pre-condition                                 | ReservedTU seats<br>(i.e. parity-based<br>supervisory<br>board)    | Company<br>collective<br>agreement<br>binding local TU | Trigger by HC<br>employees  | Trigger by HC<br>employees +<br>ballot   | 2 board seats for<br>employees (i.e.<br>board-size > 8) +<br>an EWC exists |
|                             | Actor deciding<br>on transnational<br>scope   | HC national TU   | HC local TU  | Management and<br>employees (or<br>TUs)   | GSM  | GSM  |
| Mandates                    | Way of<br>appointment                         | Co-optation (i.e.<br>TU nomination<br>ratified in HC<br>elections) | Co-optation  | Elections,<br>organised by<br>local election<br>boards between<br>management<br>and employees,<br>according<br>to national<br>regulations | Process ran by<br>management and<br>employees as<br>negotiated (no<br>legal procedure)<br>+ foreign<br>regulations | EWC appoints<br>1 member   |
|                             | Actor<br>appointing                           | HC national TU +<br>HC workforce                                   | HC local TU  | Group employees   | Group employees<br>(management<br>decisive)  | EWC  |
|                             | Number or<br>proportion of<br>'foreign' seats | 1 up to 3  | 1 up to 3  | 1 up to 1/3<br>(max. 4)   | 1 up to 2 or 3<br>(HC is granted 1<br>or 2)  | 1<br>(HC is granted 1).  |
| Implementation              | Companies<br>identified                       | VW<br>DaimlerChrysler  | SAS<br>Nordea  | 24<br>(e.g. Orkla, Roxar,<br>Veritas, Nordic<br>Paper, Kraft<br>Foods, etc.)  | Grundfos<br>Poul DueJensen<br>Foundation   | 42 (e.g. Alstom,<br>Veolia, etc.)  |

Note: HC – home country; TU – trade union; GSM – general shareholder meeting. Source: Author's elaboration based on Hagen (2016) and own legal analysis.

No national legislation in the countries considered here explicitly excludes foreign subsidiaries or branches from participation systems, even though they do not explicitly include them either (Mulder 2017a: 98). In that sense, none could be accused of being directly discriminatory or protectionist. Rather, it is the interplay between international private law rules, the lack of an EU regulation and the risks of regulatory uncertainty that explains the narrow interpretations of the national courts and actors which have often constrained BLER to the jurisdiction of the headquarter country.

Furthermore, none of the systems offers fully transnational solutions or is in a position to secure equal representation to foreign and domestic workforces.

National frameworks cannot be enforced abroad so fail to grant equivalent protections, resources and rights to foreign members exercising BLER functions on the parent company board although that would be key to an effective cross-border participation system. Additionally, some frameworks privilege the position of actors from the headquarter country (e.g. one BLER seat being reserved to the national workforce in France or Denmark), recognising the political relevance of labour retaining direct links with the centre of corporate power and the national jurisdiction in which BLER rights are rooted. This can be considered as an institutional leverage for workers' collective strength. Even the more inclusive Norwegian legislation relies on Norwegian actors and procedures to trigger BLER in MNCs.

## 5.2 Implementation and implications for power relations

As is demonstrated here, despite the national institutional routes at hand – admittedly as diverse and incomplete as they are – BLER transnationalisation remains generally both underused and unequally used by actors. Even when frameworks explicitly refer to Europe, practice has remained at an experimental stage or has had dubious success.

In Germany and Sweden, the sole goodwill and proactivity of the national or local trade unions benefiting from BLER rights has seemed insufficient to generalise transnational BLER in MNCs. Where exceptional *ad hoc* political arrangements exist, these have been triggered by factors external to trade union policy or have otherwise proved unstable over time. Having domestic trade unions own and control the process favours more consensual involvement stories, but it has not secured long-term institutionalisation or access to all foreign workforces equally. In Norway or Denmark, the requirement to demand BLER, organise elections across borders and negotiate with management a (group) arrangement has often seemed too big a hurdle for local trade unions. In brief, regulatory uncertainties, political risks, cognitive barriers and a lack of organisational resources has discouraged trade unions from pursuing transnational BLER systems in these contexts.

When transnational systems have been established, the formal integration of foreign members has not necessarily meant equal recognition of their interests on the board. First, the power that foreign workforces can gain from participating in the parent company BLER may differ depending on board composition and the degree of employee representation therein. On German paritarian supervisory boards, where six, eight or ten board members represent employees according to the German Codetermination Act (§7(2)), labour's influence can be stronger but German interests will prevail if only one foreign member is represented. Such an imbalance as regards workers' seats is reduced where employees occupy only one-third of board seats – up to four (Thomsen et al. 2016) as in Scandinavian countries; or one or two as in France. Second, transnational solidarity is harder to pursue when domestic and foreign representatives have uneven positions and opportunities to build coalitions on the board due to different channels of influence in their industrial relations systems and the distance from the headquarter location.<sup>47</sup>

Finally, the diversity of remuneration policies deserves specific attention given their sensitivity and implications for BLER transnationalisation. In Nordic countries, even if the rights and obligations of board-level employee representatives are generally similar to those of other board members, board remuneration is known to be relatively modest (and even absent in Sweden) compared with other countries (Lekvall 2014: 86; Thomsen et al. 2016). This, together with the central role of local unions in the participation system, could explain the apparent lack of a centralised trade union policy on resource transfers or a discussion on the potential impact of remuneration on workers' independence. In contrast, trade union confederations in Germany and France show an explicit concern regarding board remuneration with a view to keeping worker directors' independence of management as well as union discipline. While remuneration on German boards is high and systematic, French companies generally, although not mandatorily, offer substantial yet lower remuneration to BLER members (i.e. so-called 'jetons de présence' before the PACTE law renamed these as 'rémunération': Coignard (2019)).

However, policies on resource transfers do respond to different models of trade unionism. As mentioned already, the German system traditionally centralises and organically coordinates transfers via the HBS and, in the cases examined, foreign representatives on German boards are assimilated to domestic representatives and have to commit to the same transfer guidelines. Conversely, in France, as a result of trade union pluralism, each trade union has developed independent guidelines for their unionised worker directors (e.g. CFDT 2017; CGT 2016: 6), leaving it up to foreign members and their unions back home to decide on potential resource transfers. One transfer policy is not intrinsically more transnational or egalitarian than another in its justification, but the French one can *de facto* result in some redistribution of financial trade union resources across borders.

In sum, transnational BLER in MNCs is found more often in Norway and France where national hard law promotes that option. The French route has proved the most effective in quantitative terms. It is also the one which provides EWCs with a potential role in appointing the second BLER member,<sup>48</sup> a role that employers seem to be encouraging. The EWC solution has the advantage of securing a European legitimacy to the BLER mandate while simplifying procedures as it articulates BLER within an already operative

**<sup>47.</sup>** As observed by Dinh, the interests of domestic and foreign representatives are harder to align in what he calls 'trans-systemic' mergers where industrial relations systems based on collective bargaining and on codetermination collide and representatives cannot equally maximise their influence on company policy through their board involvement (Dinh 1999: 997).

**<sup>48.</sup>** No other case revealed a role for EWCs in appointing BLER members.

Sara Lafuente

body of European employee representation. However, it is not a given how EWCs or trade unions should prepare discussions or set specific internal rules for selecting and appointing candidates and managing their mandate and remuneration in order that BLER Europeanisation is not instrumentalised by managements to interfere in an independent and legitimate collective voice of workers.

# 6. Discussion: imagining alternatives for BLER Europeanisation in MNCs

So far, no national framework depicts an exemplary model of BLER Europeanisation in MNCs – that is, one which encompasses two fundamental principles with which to consider BLER as an industrial relations institution with a European dimension: collective autonomy; and the political legitimacy of worker representation at EU level. Acknowledging the European dimension of social conflict, we suggest some possible avenues to stimulate and open up the *champs des possibles* for trade union action towards Euro-democratising employee representation on company boards.

A first avenue is EU legislation on codetermination (Article 153(1)(f) TFEU). Harmonisation has generally been discarded given the requirement for Council unanimity and decades of controversy and failed attempts to harmonise employee involvement in EU corporate law. The initial European Company Statute<sup>49</sup> and the so-called Fifth Company Law Directive<sup>50</sup> were the bones of contention in a project to impose two-tiered corporate governance structures with employee participation on supervisory boards on all public limited companies within the EEA. This was modelled on the German corporate governance system but was systematically rejected by the United Kingdom and Denmark and, later, by Spain (Seifert 2017: 342; Davies 2003; Gold 2010). The political context has of course changed since then: Brexit has eliminated a historical opponent of BLER while France, Spain and Italy today show growing interest in legislating BLER, as do some of their main trade unions despite a traditional opposition to codetermination. On another level, the European Parliament, whose legislative powers have increased, has recently passed a report on democracy at work calling, among other things, for minimum standards on BLER rights in European-scale companies (European Parliament 2021), in line with the ETUC's escalator proposal (ETUC 2016). The proposal does not intend yet to expand new rights across MNCs regardless of country or form of establishment and it is to be seen whether it will translate into concrete EU legislative action, but the event seemed unthinkable only a few years ago considering previous failed attempts (EMPL 2016).

<sup>49.</sup> Proposal on the Statute for a European Company (OJ C, C/124, 10 October 1970).

**<sup>50.</sup>** Proposal for a Fifth Directive on the Coordination of Safeguards which, for the protection of the interests of members and outsiders, are required by Member States of companies within the meaning of Article 59.2 with respect to company structure and to the power and responsibilities of company boards (OJ C, C/131, 13 December 1972).

Harmonisation could indeed address different dimensions of the problem. Imposing homogeneous BLER rules on all MNCs in the EEA (even those within the scope of the EWC Directive and with an escalator approach) may seem politically improbable and could risk rejection by countries without codetermination traditions, certainly by influence of their employers. But a more feasible transnational avenue could well be to extend BLER rights across borders in companies which are already subject to group schemes according to their governing national laws, as is the case in the countries examined in this Working Paper. Also, reckoning the transnational (at least pan-European) scope of multinational groups as regards the determination of employee thresholds giving access to BLER rights under national laws would be a considerable step towards a more democratic Europeanisation of worker representation rights.

Additionally, national systems could adapt to cross-border corporate realities, ensuring the interests of foreign workforces and those in the headquarter jurisdiction are recognised and protected on a more equal basis. Such rules should apply across the EU, both to parent companies and the domestic and foreign subsidiaries concerned. In terms of content, they should address BLER members' appointment procedures, eligibility criteria, protections and resources such as training, time-off, interpretation during board meetings and the means to visit workplaces and meet with other worker representation bodies. In line with subsidiarity, EU rules could remit to national electoral procedures for worker representation and the protections existing in Member States to allow BLER members to fulfil their transnational mandates adequately. National legislators would also need to commit to supporting strong trade unions and the capabilities of worker representatives. EWCs (or their Special Negotiating Body as set out in the EWC Directive) could gain a new role in the appointment of BLER members, following the French example, contributing to the articulation of two key transnational arenas for worker representation and involvement in corporate policy while securing a democratic Europeanisation of board mandates in MNCs. The upcoming revision of the EWC Directive could be an opportunity to address this and secure pan-European certainty over procedures (EMPL 2022). An articulated EU institutional framework of upwards convergence would reassure trade unions familiar with BLER systems, minimising the potentially negative consequences of Europeanisation for the systems that currently exist, while also providing incentives to trade unions unfamiliar with BLER systems to make better use of their voice in transnational BLER.

Another essential aspect deserving exploration beyond this Paper are pan-European electoral rules. After a two-decade debate, the idea of a pan-European electoral district has gained momentum (van Hecke 2018; Verger 2018) and the European Parliament recently approved a proposal for a Council Regulation on transnational electoral lists in EU Parliamentary elections (European Parliament 2022). The proposal is not free of technical and political open questions and it does not resolve all the problems entailed by the making of a supranational democracy, but it is an attempt to move away from prevailing intergovernmental and federalist approaches to representation and to emphasise 'the supranational dimension of the single institution directly elected by citizens' (De Castro 2022: 445-446) within the EU political system. This issue will be kept on the agenda after the Conference on the Future of Europe.<sup>51</sup> Considering the parallels between firms and political institutions depicted at length in democratic and political theory (e.g. Landemore and Ferreras 2016), could a similar proposal be eventually envisaged for the election of board-level worker representatives in MNCs? That could stimulate the creation of a European *demos* of workers while promoting the Europeanisation of trade union organisations within MNCs.

Which brings us to trade union action, strategies and policies as a second avenue of development in parallel with EU legislation. Trade unions could coordinate lobbying strategies towards transnational legislation on BLER, as mentioned. Crucially, however, they could do more to improve their political legitimacy, capabilities and ways of acting in transnational BLER systems. At normative level, deliberative processes could be organised to establish shared notions and guidelines on European mandates of worker representation, addressing the meaning of such a representative role and how to use it strategically in practice to get the most out of it in the defence of the collective interests of workers across borders.

At organisational level, trade unions could elaborate joint pan-European policies on board remuneration in MNCs in a similar vein as developed for SEs. Such a financial system could support the construction of a truly supranational trade union movement, favouring strategic action, training and planning on a cross-border basis and explicitly involving BLER in efforts to articulate worker representation in MNCs.

Next, trade unions could trigger discussions within EWCs to promote this body's role in appointing BLER representatives via transparent and inclusive procedures. ETUFs and their global equivalents could also play a key role in nominating BLER members where transnational board mandates are at stake in MNCs but where there remains an exclusive institutional reliance on national or local trade unions. An exemplary precedent can be found in the collective mandating procedures originally developed by international trade union federations to deal with the different situation of transnational negotiations in MNCs.<sup>52</sup> This could secure trade union rights on those boards alongside the political legitimacy of the mandates of those exercising them. It would of course require a transfer of political power from local or national trade unions to their corresponding European or global federations, as

<sup>51.</sup> Citizens' Proposal No. 38 on democracy and elections included transnational lists; see Report on the final outcome of the Conference on the Future of Europe of May 2022, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/resources/library/ media/20220509RES29121/20220509RES29121.pdf

**<sup>52.</sup>** See especially the pioneer EMF mandating procedure (IndustriAll-Europe 2021) and the accounts of its implementation contained in Müller et al. (2011), Frosecchi (2015) and Rehfeldt (2015).

| Sara Lafuente |  |
|---------------|--|
|               |  |

'multi-level employee interest representation (...) operates through a converse arrangement in which authority is delegated upwards from the local level' (Haipeter et al. 2019: 20). Although challenging, this is not unthinkable.

Finally, this potential role for European and global trade union federations is an appealing solution particularly in the context of the recent CJEU judgement of 18 October 2022, in the case C-677/20 *IG Metall and ver.di v SAP SE.*<sup>53</sup> In this case, the CJEU has recognised that trade union rights to nominate a proportion of candidates to an SE supervisory board via specific ballots is a non-negotiable element of the German codetermination system, deserving the full protections of the SE Directive in cases of SE transformation under German law.<sup>54</sup> Interestingly, however, the CJEU goes further in stating that such nomination rights belong to all trade unions represented on the SE, not exclusively German ones. Following the Opinion of the Advocate General,<sup>55</sup> the judgement of the CJEU is explicit:

48. (...) in so far as the securing of acquired rights sought by the EU legislature implies not only the preservation of employees' acquired rights in the company to be transformed into an SE, but also the extension of those rights to all employees of the SE, all employees of the SE established by means of transformation must enjoy the same rights as those which the employees of the company to be transformed into an SE enjoyed.

49. It follows that, in the present case, all employees of SAP must be able to avail of the electoral procedure laid down by German law, even in the absence of any indication to that effect in that law. (...) The right to nominate a certain proportion of candidates for election as employees' representatives within a supervisory board of an SE established by way of transformation, such as SAP, cannot be reserved to the German trade unions alone but must be extended to all trade unions represented within the SE, its subsidiaries and establishments, in such a way as to ensure that those trade unions are treated equally in respect of that right.

Admittedly, CJEU has left it to the German courts, the national legislator and, most crucially, the trade unions to propose specific solutions, but the judgement makes an unambiguous call for the equal representation of workers and trade unions across an SE, and, although confined to the case of SEs established by transformation, it amounts to a strong statement in support of the Europeanisation of trade union mandates, one that resonates with previous calls for trade union internal democracy in transnational contexts (Hyman and Gumbrell-McCormick 2020). Since political legitimacy is the

**<sup>53.</sup>** The judgement of 18 October 2022 in Case C-677/20 *IG Metall and ver.di v SAP SE* [ECLI:EU:C:2022:800].

**<sup>54.</sup>** In the case at stake, SAP SE had adopted a clause in its SE agreement that facilitated a disregard of the right of (German) trade unions to nominate members of the supervisory board via a separate ballot.

<sup>55.</sup> Opinion of Advocate General Richard de la Tour, 28 April 2022 [ECLI:EU:C:2022:325].

main source of power and authority that employee representatives can put forward on the boards on which they sit (Hagen and Mulder 2013: 161), trade unions should be eager to establish internal arrangements to preserve and improve their political legitimacy in transnational contexts.

The possibilities discussed above are a way forward in any kind of MNC situation but with all the more reason in SEs and other EU-regulated corporate structures after this categorical CJEU judgement.

## 7. Conclusion

Different national regulatory channels and practices have made room for transnational BLER in MNCs governed by national law. This Paper has examined their workings and implementation in five EEA countries: Germany, Sweden, Norway, Denmark and France. The Paper has addressed one gap in the literature on BLER Europeanisation by conducting comparative case study research. However, the topic awaits further qualitative and quantitative work to understand properly the institutional processes and negotiations, and their impact, in terms of board dynamics as well as actors' rationales and room for manoeuvre at micro level.

The findings question the assumed democratic attributes of national participation systems (Windbichler 2005; Marklund 2017) and the supposed automatic virtues of Europeanisation if uncoordinated or considered uncritically. The study reveals that, so far, BLER Europeanisation has generally not been guided by concerns on how to democratise worker representation in MNCs but rather by more technical and pragmatic concerns responding to the *ad hoc* and idiosyncratic circumstances triggered (directly or indirectly) by restructuring events, corporate legal reforms or capitalist projects. As pointed out by Erne, 'social actors hardly ever conceive of democratization as a goal in its own right': they only 'favor democratization if they expect that a more democratic polity will provide a framework in which their interests can be better satisfied' (Erne 2008: 22).

The study contradicts the functionalist assumption according to which Europeanisation happens 'by stealth'. Bottom-up Europeanisation of worker representation on boards has not naturally led to Euro-democratic outcomes. If BLER is taken seriously as an institution, able to redistribute power and democratise corporate government, then such a potential will not be achieved without proactive action from trade unions and EU legislators towards resizing BLER rights to the same level at which corporate decisions and operations take place. That would reinforce a Euro-democratic strategy. Without such a politicisation at EU level and an EU regulatory framework, actors already used to 'nationally institutionalised practices of corporatist and consensual negotiations' (Kostera 2013: 75) are more likely to avoid Europeanised solutions. At best, the strongest unions and companies may strategically use the rhetoric of board diversity to keep their current power status quo. While trade unions turn against each other across borders, companies keep the upper hand over labour's voice in corporate decision-making. Europeanisation in the form of Euro-technocratisation risks disrupting pre-established national

BLER systems and their political legitimacy, questioning the transparency and effectiveness of an institution that had asserted its democratic credentials right from the beginning.

BLER in MNCs opens up a new arena of transnational social dialogue and collective action for organised labour, but its use will ultimately depend on actors' strategic choices and orientation. Here, the CJEU judgement in Case C-677/20 *IG Metall and ver.di v SAPSE* may be a trigger for actors, particularly trade unions, to take more seriously the inequality of interest representation in MNC structures. Furthermore, it can be an incentive to search proactively for sustainable solutions which better encompass the representation via BLER of the plurality of workers' interests within MNCs.

Regulation can facilitate or, conversely, hinder the possibilities that BLER might become a useful tool to redistribute power and enhance European workers' interests in MNCs. No national law could fully or adequately address the legal and political challenges raised by BLER transnationalisation, but the EU legislator could step in to remedy many of the uncertainties in support of a more democratic BLER Europeanisation. An integrated EU framework of information, consultation and BLER rights extended to MNCs operating in the EEA could pave the way towards a pan-European policy on democracy at work.

## Sara Lafuente

## Abbreviations

| BLER        | Board-level employee representation                                     |
|-------------|---|
| CJEU        | Court of Justice of the European Union                                  |
| CO-industri | Central Organisation of Industrial Employees in Denmark                 |
| DGB         | Deutscher Gewerkschaftsbund / German Trade Union Confederation          |
| EEA         | European Economic Area  |
| EMF         | European Metalworkers Federation  |
| ETUF        | European Trade Union Federation   |
| ETUC        | European Trade Union Confederation                                      |
| EU          | European Union  |
| EWC         | European Works Council  |
| EWCdb       | European Works Council database   |
| HBS         | Hans-Böckler-Stiftung / Hans Böckler Foundation                         |
| IG BCE      | Industriegewerkschaft Bergbau, Chemie, Energie / German Union for       |
|             | Mining, Chemicals and Energy  |
| IG Metall   | Industriegewerkschaft Metall / German Metalworkers Union                |
| MNC         | Multinational company   |
| PACTE       | Plan d'Action pour la Croissance et la Transformation des Entreprises / |
|             | Action Plan for the Growth and Transformation of Firms                  |
| SAS         | Scandinavian Airlines System  |
| SE          | Societas Europaea / European Company                                    |
| SE-WC       | Works Council of a European Company                                     |
| TFEU        | Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union                         |

#### References

- Adler A. (2021) Daimler Truck spinoff on track after parent company's board vote, Freight Waves, 2 August 2021. https://bit.ly/3FQbYW9
- Amankwah-Amoah J., Ottosson J. and Sjögren H. (2017) United we stand, divided we fall: historical trajectory of strategic renewal activities at the Scandinavian Airlines System, 1946-2012, Business History, 59 (4), 572-606.
- Antunes J.-E. (2005) Enterprise forms and enterprise liability: is there a paradox in modern corporation law?, Revista da Faculdade de Direito da Universidade do Porto, 2, 187-225.

Auzero G. (2013) La représentation obligatoire des salariés dans les conseils d'administration et de surveillance, Droit Social, 9, 740-746.

- Bandov G. and Herceg Kolman N. (2018) Research on Europeanization in literature: from the top-down approach to Europeanization as a multi-directional process, Cadmus, 3 (5), 134-144.
- Baums T. and Cahn A. (2009) Arbeitskreis 'Unternehmerische Mitbestimmung': Entwurf einer Regelung zur Mitbestimmungsvereinbarung sowie zur Grösse des mitbestimmten Aufsichtsrats, Working Paper 103, Institute for Law and Finance. https://www.ilf-frankfurt.de/fileadmin/\_migrated/content\_uploads/ ILF\_WP\_103.pdf
- Beffa J.-L. and Clerc C. (2013) Les chances d'une codétermination à la française, Prisme 26, Fondation Cournot.
- Béthoux É. (2009) Vers une représentation européenne des salariés : les comités d'entreprise européens face aux restructurations, Sociologie du travail, 51 (4), 478-498.
- Bickerton C. J., Hodson D. and Puetter U. (2015) The new intergovernmentalism: European integration in the post-Maastricht era, Journal of Common Market Studies, 53 (4), 703-722.
- Biedenkopf K., Gentz M., Hundt D., Peters J., Reppien G., Sommer M., Streeck W., Thumann J. and Wissmann H. (2006) Kommission zur Modernisierung der deutschen Unternehmensmitbestimmung: Bericht der wissenschaftlichen Mitglieder der Kommission mit Stellungnahmen der Vertreter der Unternehmen und der Vertreter der Arbeitnehmer, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung. https://www.boeckler.de/pdf/mbf\_biedenkopfkommission.pdf
- Bourgeois C., Hollandts X. and Valiorgue B. (2021) La Loi Pacte : enjeux et perspectives pour la gouvernance des sociétés françaises, Revue française de gouvernance d'entreprise, 22/23, 7-32.
- Böckli P., Davies P., Ferran E., Ferrarini G., Garrido García J.-M., Hopt K.J., Opalski
  A., Pietrancosta A., Roth M., Skog R., Soltysinski S., Winter J.W., Winner M.
  and Wymeersch E. (2017) A proposal for the reform of Group Law in Europe,
  European Business Organisation Law Review, 18 (1), 1-49.
- CFDT (2017) Rémunération des dirigeants : guide à l'attention des administrateurs salariés.
- CGT (2016) Une charte pour les administrateurs salariés : propositions de la CGT, Note Économique 145.
- Coignard S. (2019) Les faux jetons : dans le secret des conseils d'administration, Fayard.
- Conchon A. (2011) Board-level employee representation rights in Europe: facts and trends, ETUI.

| Sara | Lafuente |
|------|----------|
|      |          |

| Conchon A. (2014) Les administrateurs salariés en France : contribution à une |
|---|
| sociologie de la participation des salariés aux décisions de l'entreprise,    |
| PhD Thesis, CNAM.   |

- Cremers J. (2018) The Dutch system of workers' participation, Revue de droit comparé du travail et de la sécurité sociale, 4, 100-107.
- Crifo P. and Rebérioux A. (2019) La participation des salariés : du partage de l'information à la codétermination, SciencesPo Les Presses.

Culpepper P.D. (2011) Quiet politics and business power: corporate control in Europe and Japan, Cambridge University Press.

Daimler (2020) Annual report. https://bit.ly/3DNDEsH

Daimler (2021) Spin-off and hive-down report (Demerger report) - Extraordinary general meeting of Daimler AG on 1 October 2021. https://bit.ly/444MQqW

Davies P.L. (2003) Workers on the board of the European Company?, Industrial Law Journal, 32 (2), 75-96.

De Castro L.R. (2022) Listas transnacionales en las elecciones al Parlamento Europeo: ¿una prioridad?, Revista de Estudios Europeos, 79, 441-456.

De Munck J. and Ferreras I. (2013) Restructuring processes and capability for voice: case study of Volkswagen, International Journal of Manpower, 34 (4), 397-412.

Dinh D.V. (1999) Codetermination and corporate governance in a multinational corporation, Working Paper 169870, Georgetown University Law Centre.

Duez D. (2014) L'Européanisation au prisme de la science politique : un nouveau regard sur l'Europe, in Duez D., Paye O. and Verdure C. (eds.) L'Européanisation : sciences humaines et nouveaux enjeux, Bruylant, 21-53.

Elson C.M., Ferrere C.K. and N.J. Goossen (2015) The bug at Volkswagen: lessons in co-determination, ownership and board structure, Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, 27 (4), 27-43.

Embid Irujo J.M. (2005) Trends and realities in the law of corporate groups, European Business Organization Law Review, 6 (1), 65-91.

EMPL (2016) Draft report on workers' representation on board level in Europe (2015/2222(INI)), Rapporteur: Thomas Händel, 26 February 2016, Committee on Employment and Social Affairs of the European Parliament.

EMPL (2022) Draft report with recommendations to the Commission on revision of European Works Councils Directive (2019/2183(INL)), Rapporteur: Dennis Radtke, 12 May 2022, Committee on Employment and Social Affairs of the European Parliament.

European Parliament (2021) Resolution of 16 December on democracy at work: a European framework for employees' participation rights and the revision of the European Works Council Directive (2021/2005(INI)). https://www.europarl. europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2021-0508\_EN.html

European Parliament (2022) Report on the proposal for a Council Regulation on the election of the members of the European Parliament by direct universal suffrage, repealing Council Decision (76/787/ECSC, EEC, Euratom) and the Act concerning the election of the members of the European Parliament by direct universal suffrage annexed to that decision (2020/2220(INL).

Erne R. (2008) European unions: labor's quest for a transnational democracy, ILR Press.

ETUC (2008) Annex 1: Resolution on the European Workers Participation Fund.

- ETUC (2016) Orientation for a new EU Framework on information, consultation and board-level representation rights, Position Paper. https://www.etuc.org/sites/ default/files/document/files/en-position-wblr.pdf
- ETUI (2021a) European Company database. http://ecdb.worker-participation.eu/ news.php (Accessed 04.07.2021)
- ETUI (2021b) European Works Councils database. http://www.ewcdb.eu/ (Accessed 28.02.2021)
- Evju S. (2002) The role of collective bargaining. National report: Norway, Paper presented at the Tenth Meeting of European Labour Court Judges, Stockholm, 2 September 2002.
- Fauerholdt N. (2014) Medarbejdervalgte bestyrelsesmedlemmer i erhvervsbestyrelser, Ugebrevet A4. https://ugebreveta4.s3.amazonaws.com/ Docs/000000/20140911\_En\_smed\_i\_bestyrelsen\_er\_guld\_vaerd.pdf
- Favereau O. and Roger B. (2015) Penser l'entreprise : nouvel horizon du politique, Editions Parole et Silence.
- Featherstone K. and Radaelli C. (eds.) (2003) The politics of Europeanization, Oxford University Press.
- Ferreras I. (2017) Firms as political entities: saving democracy through economic bicameralism, Cambridge University Press.
- Fetzer T. (2008) European Works Councils as risk communities: the case of General Motors, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 14 (3), 289-308.
- Fetzer T. (2010) The Europeanization of employee participation: Britain and Germany in historical and contemporary perspective, Economic and Industrial Democracy, 31 (4S), 3-8.
- Frosecchi G. (2015) GDF Suez transnational collective agreement on health and safety: EWC as negotiating agent and the relevance of the ETUF leading role, Working Paper CSDLE Massimo D'Antona, INT-119/2015.
- Fulton L. (2021) National industrial relations, an update (2019-2021), Labour Research Department and ETUI. http://www.worker-participation.eu/National-Industrial-Relations.
- Géa F. (2020) Loi Pacte : quelle contribution au renouveau du droit du travail ?, Revue de droit du travail, 2, 99-110.
- Gold M. (2010) Employee participation in the EU: the long and winding road to legislation, Economic and Industrial Democracy, 31 (4S), 9-23.
- Gregoric A. and Poulsen T. (2017) The power of non-controlling stake: below-parity representation of employees on corporate boards. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.3013580
- Groenewald E. (2005) Corporate governance in the Netherlands: from the Verdam report of 1964 to the Tabaksblat Code of 2003, European Business Organization Law Review, 6 (2), 291-311.
- Grundfos (2012-2020) Annual reports. https://bit.ly/3pndrh1
- Habersack M., Behme C., Eidenmüller H. and Klöhn L. (eds.) (2016) Deutsche Mitbestimmung unter europäischen Reformzwang, Fachmedien Recht und Wirtschaft.
- Hagen I.M. (2015) Participation and co-determination: why some arrangements fail and others prevail, in Engelstad F. and Hagelund A. (eds.) Cooperation and conflict the Nordic way: work, welfare and institutional change in Scandinavia, De Gruyter Open, 77-95.

- Hagen I.M. (2016) 'You can't argue with numbers', Transnational representation with a Norwegian perspective, Paper presented at the 40th anniversary WZC Conference, Berlin, 12 May 2016.
- Hagen I.M. (2017) Flere styrer færre ansatterepresentanter, Søkelys På Arbeidslivet, 34 (4), 252–272. https://www.idunn.no/spa/2017/04/flere\_styrer\_ faerre\_ansattevalgte\_styremedlemmer
- Hagen I.M. (2020) Employee representatives on company boards: hostages, renegades or fierce opponents?, Nordic Journal of Working Life Studies, 10 (2), 61-80.
- Hagen I.M. and Mulder B.J. (2013) Transnational employee representation on company board: the Scandinavian model, in Ales E. and Senatori I. (eds.)
   Transnational dimension of labour relations, a new order in the making?, Gippichelli Editore, 135-170.

Hagen I.M. and Svarstad E. (2021) Ansattes styrerepresentasjon i privat sector: fortsatt nedgang i bruk av ordningen?, Fafo-notat 2021:07, Fafo.

Haipeter T., Hertwig M. and Rosenbohm S. (2019) Employee representation in multinational companies: the articulation of interests in multilevel action fields, Palgrave MacMillan.

Hancké B. (2000) European Works Councils and industrial restructuring in the European motor industry, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 6 (1), 35-59.

- Hansen J.L. and Lønfeldt C. (2014) Appendix A. Corporate governance in Denmark, in Lekvall P. (ed.) The Nordic corporate governance model, Nordic and European Company Law Research Paper 14-12, SNS Förlag, 115-167.
- HBS (2017) Dossier codetermination in Denmark: election of employees' representatives to the highest company body, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung.

Hellwig H.-J. and Behme C. (2009) Gemeinschaftsrechtliche Probleme der deutschen Unternehmensmitbestimmung, Die Aktiengesellschaft, 54 (8), 261-278.

- Hexel D. and Seyboth M. (2009) Mitbestimmungs-vereinbarungen und Grösse des Aufsichtsrats, Diskurs 23, DGB-Bundesvorstand.
- Howell K.E. (2004) Developing conceptualisations of Europeanization: synthesising methodological approaches, Queen's Papers on Europeanization 3, Queen's University of Belfast.

Hyman R. (2016) The very idea of democracy at work, Transfer, 22 (1), 11-24.

- Hyman R. and Gumbrell-McCormick R. (2020) (How) can international trade union organisations be democratic?, Transfer, 26 (3), 253-272.
- ILO (2004) European companies and NORDEA. 'Societas Europaea': ancient name, new concept, World of Work Magazine, 52, 11-12. https://bit.ly/3mY6Ne4
- IndustriAll-Europe (2021) Appendix II. Mandate procedure, in IndustriAll European Trade Union Statutes 2021-2025, 13-16. https://bit.ly/2XhaAdB
- Infogreffe (2021) French Trade and Companies Register. https://www.infogreffe. com/
- Kalss S. (2004) Die Arbeitnehmermitbestimmung in Österreich, in Baums T. and Ulmer P. (eds.) Unternehmens-Mitbestimmung der Arbeitnehmer im Recht der EU-Mitgliedstaaten, Recht und Wirtschaft, 95-124.
- Keijzer T., Oost O. and van Ginneken M. (2017) The ECJ Erzberger Case: an analysis of German co-determination and EU Law, European Company Law, 14 (6), 217-225.

- Keller B. and Rosenbohm S. (2020) The European Company: original expectations and deficiencies of implementation, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 26 (1), 23-39.
- Keller B. and Werner F. (2008) The establishment of the European Company: the first cases from an industrial relations perspective, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 14 (2), 153-175.
- Kluge N. (2008) Workers' participation in BASF SE and the European debate on corporate governance, Transfer, 14 (1), 127-132.
- Koehl M. (2020) La participation des salariés dans les organes de direction : l'introuvable cogestion, Revue de droit du travail, 4, 237-245.
- Kotthoff H. (2006) Lehrjahre des Europäischen Betriebsrat: Zehn Jahre transnationale Arbeitnehmervertretung, Edition Sigma.
- Kostera T. (2013) Quand les acteurs s'abstiennent de faire usage de l'Europe : le cas d'un système de santé bismarckien, Politique européenne, 40 (2), 72-92.
- Köstler R. (2017) Election of workers' representatives to the supervisory board: do employees in foreign affiliates have voting rights? The example of Denmark, in HBS (ed.) Dossier. Codetermination in Denmark: election of employees' representatives to the highest company body, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, 2-4.
- Knudsen G. and Norvik H. (2014) Corporate governance in Norway, in Lekvall P.
   (ed.) The Nordic corporate governance model, Nordic and European Company Law Research Paper 14-12, SNS Förlag, 201-246.
- Krause R. (2016) Acid test ECJ. The EU Commission's opinion on the TUI Case: a critical commentary, Co-determination Report 23, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung.
- Krüger Andersen P. (2004) Employees' co-determination in Danish companies, in Baums T. and Ulmer P. (eds.) Unternehmens-Mitbestimmung der Arbeitnehmer im Recht der EU-Mitgliedstaaten, Recht und Wirtschaft, 11-24.
- Lafuente Hernández S. (2019) Negotiated board-level employee representation in European companies: leverage for the institutional power of labour?, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 25 (3), 275-289.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0959680119830573

- Lafuente Hernández S., Jamar D. and Martínez García E. (2016) Respuestas sindicales ante el desafío de la empresa-red: sector petroquímico y nuclear, Cuadernos de Relaciones Laborales, 34 (1),151-171.
- Lafuente Hernández S. and Rasnača Z. (2019) Can workers' rights ever catch up? The Erzberger Case and EU cross-border reality, Industrial Law Journal, 48 (1), 98-116.
- Lafuente S. (2022) The Europeanisation of board-level employee representation in France: an emerging role for European Works Councils?, Working Paper 2022.14, ETUI.
- Landemore H. and Ferreras I. (2016) In defense of workplace democracy: towards a justification of the firm-state analogy, Political Theory, 44 (1), 53-81.
- Larsson B., Bengtsson M. and Lovén Seldén K. (2012) Transnational trade union cooperation in the Nordic countries, Management Revue, 23 (1), 32-48.
- L.A. Times (1998) UAW gets Daimler-Chrysler Board Seat, 28 May 1998, https://lat.ms/3DZQV1N
- Lekvall P. (ed.) (2014) Lekvall P. (ed.) The Nordic corporate governance model, Nordic and European Company Law Research Paper 14-12, SNS Förlag.
- Levinson K. (2001) Employee representatives on company boards in Sweden, Industrial Relations Journal, 32 (3), 264-274.

| Sara L | afuente |
|--------|---------|
|        |         |

| Locke R. and Thelen K. (1995) Apples and oranges revisited: contextualized |
|--|
| comparisons and the study of labor politics, Politics and Society, 23 (3), |
| 337-367.   |

Majone G. (2005) Dilemmas of European integration. the ambiguities and pitfalls of integration by stealth, Oxford University Press.

Marklund C. (2017) The Nordic model on the global market of ideas: the welfare state as Scandinavia's best brand, Geopolitics, 22 (3), 623-639.

Martínez Lucio M. and Mustchin S. (2019) The politics and diversity of worker representation: the increasing fluidity and challenge of representation, in Gall G. (ed.) Handbook of the politics of labour, work and employment, Edward Elgar, 144-160.

Martínez Lucio M. and Weston S. (1995) Trade unions and networking in the context of change: evaluating the outcomes of decentralization in industrial relations, Economic and Industrial Democracy, 16 (2), 233-51.

Martínez Lucio M. and Weston S. (2004) European Works Councils: structures and strategies in the new Europe, in Fitzgerald I. and Stirling J. (eds.) European Works Councils: pessimism of the intellect, optimism of the will?, Routledge, 34-47.

Martínez Lucio M. and Weston S. (2007) Preparing the ground for a social Europe? European Works Councils and European regulatory identity, in Whittall M., Knudsen H. and Huijgen F. (eds.) Towards a European labour identity: the case of the European Works Council, Routledge.

Maurice M., Sellier F. and Silvestre J.-J. (1979 La production de la hiérarchie dans l'entreprise. Recherche d'un effet sociétal : comparaison France-Allemagne, Revue française de sociologie, 20 (2), 331-365.

Menz G. (2008) The political economy of managed migration: nonstate actors, Europeanization and the politics of designing migration policies, Oxford University Press.

MeritaNordbanken (1998-1999) Annual reports. https://bit.ly/3mUyJQ9

Meyer M. and Biermeyer T. (2021) Cross-border corporate mobility in the EU: empirical findings 2021, ETUI and Maastricht University. https://ssrn.com/ abstract=3960618

Moravcsik A. (1998) The choice for Europe: social purpose and state power from Messina to Maastricht, Cornell University Press.

Movitz F. and Palm J. (2018) Board-level representation in Sweden: a neglected aspect of the Swedish model?, in Waddington J. (ed.) European board-level employee representation: national variations in influence and power, Kluwer Law International.

Mulder B.J. (2017a) The law concerning the election of employees' representatives in company bodies. Note in the light of the CJEU case Konrad Erzberger v TUI AG, C 566/15, European Labour Law Journal, 8 (1), 96-104.

Mulder B.J. (2017b) Arbetstagarrepresentation i internationella koncernbolag, in Ahlberg K., Herzfeld Olsson P. and Malmberg J. (eds.) Niklas Bruun i Sverige: en vänbok, Iustus Förlag, 275-288.

Müller T., Platzer H.-W. and Rüb S. (2011) European collective agreements at company level and the relationship between EWCs and trade unions: lessons from the metal sector, Transfer, 17 (2), 217-228.

Nordea (2000-2002) Annual reports. https://bit.ly/3mUyJQ9

Nordea (2016) Annual corporate governance report. https://bit.ly/3AGe1YV

Nordea (2017) Merger plan regarding the merger between Nordea Bank AB (publ) and Nordea Holding Abp, 25 October 2017. https://www.nordea.com/en/doc/ merger-plan.pdf

Nordea (2020) Corporate governance report 2020. https://bit.ly/3AMXEdg

Notat N. and Senard J.D. (2018) L'entreprise, objet d'intérêt collectif, La Documentation française. https://bit.ly/3p8ArA3

Patra E. (2009) The regulation of industrial relations in the European Company: challenges facing managers and employee representatives, in Gold M., Nikolopoulos A. and Kluge N. (eds.) The European Company Statute: a new approach to corporate governance, Peter Lang, 165-190.

Pitkin H.F. (1967) The concept of representation, University of California Press. Prassl J. (2015) The concept of the employer, Oxford University Press.

Rehfeldt U. (1993) Les syndicats européens face à la transnationalisation des entreprises, Le Mouvement social, 162, 69-93.

Rehfeldt U. (2013) The Europeanisation of employee involvement in SEs: lessons from ten case studies, in Cremers J., Stollt M. and Vitols S. (eds.) A decade of experience with the European Company, ETUI, 165-187.

Rehfeldt U. (2015) Transnational Company Agreements: a map, in Euracta2 (ed.) The Transnational Company Agreements: experiences and prospects, 27-39.

Rehfeldt U. (2019) Board-level employee representation in France: recent developments and debates, Mitbestimmungsreport 53, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung.

Rose C. (2008) The challenges of employee-appointed board members for corporate governance: the Danish evidence, European Business Organization Law Review, 9 (2), 215-235.

Rosenbohm S. and Haipeter T. (2019) German board-level employee representation in multinational companies: patterns of transnational articulation, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 25 (3), 219-232.

SAS (1957-1960) Annual reports. https://bit.ly/3DQoZgJ SAS (2016-2019) Corporate governance reports. https://bit.ly/3APkIIi

SAS (2020) Bolagsordning för SAS AB (org. nr. 556606-8499) [Articles of association

of SAS AB (Reg. No. 556606-8499)]. https://bit.ly/3FP7teu

Saurugger S. (2020) Théories et concepts de l'intégration européenne, 2nd ed., Presses de Sciences Po.

Segrestin B. and Vernac S. (2018) Gouvernement, participation et mission de l'entreprise, Hermann.

Seifert A. (2017) The case of Konrad Erzberger v TUI AG: comment to Court of Justice of the European Union (Grand Chamber), judgement of 18 July 2017, Case C-566/15, European Labour Law Journal, 8 (4), 333-343.

Serrano Olivares R. (2016) Grupos de empresas a efectos laborales: a vueltas con la necesidad de superar su entendimiento en clave patológica, IUSLabor. Revista d'anàlisi de Dret del Treball, 2, 1-24.

Shields M. (2007) UAW's Gettelfinger leaves DaimlerChrysler board, Reuters, 10 September 2007. https://reut.rs/3FRY4Tp

Sick S. and Gieseke F. (2020) Corona-Pandemie: Folgen für Aufsichtsratswahlen, HBS-Hinweise und Empfehlungen zum Vorgehen. https://bit.ly/3pcGNOP

Skog R. and Sjöman E. (2014) Corporate governance in Sweden, in Lekvall P. (ed.) The Nordic corporate governance model, Nordic and European Company Law Research Paper 14-12, SNS Förlag, 247-279.

| -    |          |
|------|----------|
| sara | Lafuente |
|      |          |

| Stollt M. and Wolters E. (2011) Worker involvement in the European Company (S | SE): |
|---|------|
| a handbook for practitioners, ETUI.   |      |

Streeck W. (2001) Introduction: Explorations into the origins of nonliberal capitalism in Germany and Japan, in Streeck W. and Yamamura K. (eds.) The origins of nonliberal capitalism: Germany and Japan in comparison, Cornell University Press, 1-38.

Tejero A. (2021) Matías Carnero entra en el consejo de supervisión del Grupo Volkswagen, El Economista, 6 April 2021. https://bit.ly/3BOPzpH

Thomsen S., Rose C. and Kronborg D. (2016) Employee representation and board size in the Nordic countries, European Journal of Law and Economics, 42 (3), 471-490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10657-015-9489-9

Turner L. (1996) The Europeanization of labour: structure before action, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 2 (3), 325-344.

van Hecke S. (ed.) (2018) Reconnecting European political parties with European Union citizens, Discussion Paper 6/2018, International IDEA.

Verger C. (2018) Transnational lists: a political opportunity for Europe with obstacles to overcome, Policy Paper 216, Jacques Delors Institute.

Vernac S. (2022) Le régime français relatif à l'interdiction de cumul des mandats d'administrateur salarié et de représentant du personnel, Rapport 2022.01, ETUI.

Volkswagen (2015a) Annual report. https://bit.ly/3j7YETn

Volkswagen (2015b) Jörg Hofmann and Johan Järvklo new members of Volkswagen AG Supervisory Board, News, 20 November 2015. https://bit.ly/2YR6HNx

Volkswagen (2020) Annual report. https://bit.ly/3AFf37G

Volkswagen (2021) Matías Carnero appointed new member of the Volkswagen Supervisory Board, 4 April 2021. https://bit.ly/3p6m6E9

Waddington J. and Conchon A. (2016) Board-level employee representation in Europe: priorities, power and articulation, Routledge.

Weil D. (2017) The fissured workplace: why work became so bad for so many and what can be done to improve it, Harvard University Press.

Whittall M., Martínez Lucio M., Mustchin S., Telljohann V. and Rocha Sánchez F. (2017) Workplace trade union engagement with European Works Councils and transnational agreements: the case of Volkswagen Europe, European Journal of Industrial Relations, 23 (4), 397-414.

Windbichler C. (2000) 'Corporate Group Law for Europe': comments on the Forum Europaeum's principles and proposals for a European Group Law, European Business Organization Law Review, 1 (2), 265-286.

Windbichler C. (2005) Cheers and boos for employee involvement: codetermination as corporate governance conundrum, European Business Organization Law Review, 6 (4), 507-537.

Woll C. and Jacquot S. (2010) Using Europe: strategic action in multi-level politics, Comparative European Politics, 8 (1), 110-126.

Yin R.K. (1989) Case study research: design and methods, SAGE.

### Legal texts

#### Germany

- Montan-Mitbestimmunggesetz (1951) Gesetz über die Mitbestimmung der Arbeitnehmer in den Aufsichtsräten und Vorständen der Unternehmen des Bergbaus und der Eisen und Stahl erzeugenden Industrie (BGBl. I 347) [Law on Codetermination in the Montan sector], 21 May 1951, in force with modifications. https://bit.ly/3p9huNQ
- Mitbestimmunggesetz (1976) Gesetz über die Mitbestimmung der Arbeitnehmer (BGBl. I S. 1153) [Law on Codetermination], 4 May 1976, in force with modifications. https://bit.ly/3pcHLur
- Drittelbeteiligungsgesetz (2004) Gesetz über die Drittelbeteiligung der Arbeitnehmer im Aufsichtsrat [Law on Third Participation], 18 May 2004, in force with modifications. https://bit.ly/3mSyyVe

#### Sweden

- Lag 1976:351 om styrelserepresentation för de anställda i aktiebolag och ekonomiska föreningar [Law on employee representation on boards of companies and economic associations], 16 June 1976. https://bit.ly/3mWzOHd
- Lag 1976:355 on styrelsrepresentation för de anställda i bankinstitut och försäkringsbolag [Law on employee representation on boards of banks and insurance companies], 3 June 1976. https://bit.ly/3aEpnCe
- Lag 1987:1245 om styrelserepresentation för de privatanställda [Law on board representation of private-sector employees], 17 December 1987, in force with modifications. https://bit.ly/3vgQP2j

#### Norway

- Lov om aksjeselskaper av 12/5/1972 [Law on joint stock companies of 12 May 1972]. Lov nº44 av 13/6/1997 om aksjeselskaper (aksjeloven) [Law on private limited companies No. 44 of 13 June 1997] in force with modifications. https://bit.ly/3DLQh7F
- Lov nº45 av 13/6/1997 om allmennaksjeselskaper (allmennaksjeloven) [Law on public limited companies No. 45 of 13 June 1997] in force with modifications. https://bit.ly/3aGl7Ce
- Lov nº62 av 17/6/2005 om arbeidsmiljø, arbeidstid og stillingsvern mv. (arbeidsmiljøloven) [Law No. 62 of 17 June 2005 relating to working environment, working hours and employment protection – Working Environment Act] in force as last amended. https://bit.ly/3n10CnM
- Forskrift nº850 av 20/6/2014 om de ansattes rett til representasjon i aksjeselskapers og allmennaksjeselskapers styre og bedriftsforsamling [Regulation No. 850 of 20 June 2014 implementing the legal provisions on the right for representatives in public limited liability companies and public limited liability companies and business associations].

Forskrift nº1277 av 24/8/2017 om de ansattes rett til representasjon i aksjeselskapers og allmennaksjeselskapers styre og bedriftsforsamling mv. (representasjonsforskriften) [Regulation No. 1277 of 24 August 2017 implementing the legal provisions on the right for representatives in public limited liability companies and public limited liability companies and business associations] in force, amending Regulation No. 850 of 20 June 2014. https://bit.ly/3FViASW

Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs (21/3/2017) Høringsnotat om endringer i representasjonsregelverket. https://bit.ly/3lI398P

#### Denmark

- Lov nº370 af 13/6/1973 om aktieselskaber / Lovbekendtgørelse nº 483 af 15/11/195 [Law No. 370 of 13 June 1973 on public limited companies / Consolidation law No. 483 of 15 November 1985]. https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/ lta/1985/483
- Lov nº371 af 13/6/1973 om anpartsselskaber [Law No. 371 of 13 June 1973 on private limited companies].
- Lov nº470 af 12/6/2009 om aktie- og anpartsselskaber (selskabsloven) / Lovbekendtgørelse nº322 af 11/4/2011 [Law No. 470 of 12 June 2009 on public and private limited companies (Companies Act) / Consolidation law No. 322 of 11 April 2011]. https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/lta/2011/322
- Bekendtgørelse nº344 af 30/3/2012 om medarbejderrepræsentation i aktie- og anpartsselskaber [Edict No. 344 of 30 March 2012 on employee representation in public and private limited liability companies]. https://www.retsinformation.dk/api/pdf/141221

Danish Business Authority (2011) Vejledning om Reglerne for selskabs- og koncernrepræsentation [Guidance on the rules for company and group representation]. https://bit.ly/3DLnD6U

#### France

Code de Commerce, Consolidated version. https://bit.ly/2YPL6EG Code du Travail, Consolidated version. https://bit.ly/3vkyWju

Loi 83-675 du 16 juillet 1983 relative à la démocratisation du secteur public [Law 1983-675 of 16 July 1983 on democratisation of the public sector]. https://bit.ly/2XhjCHx

Loi 94-640 du 25 juillet 1994 relative à l'amélioration de la participation des salariés dans l'entreprise [Law 1994-640 of 25 July 1994 on the improvement of employee participation in firms]. https://bit.ly/3p9pa2C

Loi 2013-504 du 14 juin 2013 relative à la sécurisation de l'emploi, modifiée par loi 2015-994 du 17 août 2015 relative au dialogue social et à l'emploi [Law 2013-504 of 14 June 2013 on safeguarding employment, modified by Law 2015-994 of 17 August 2015 on social dialogue and employment], in force. https://bit.ly/3lOiWmk Loi 2019-486 du 22 mai 2019 relative à la croissance et la transformation des entreprises (dite « loi PACTE ») [Law 2019-486 of 22 May 2019 on the growth and transformation of firms (known as 'PACTE Law')]. https://bit.ly/3aGqPnE Ordonnance 86-1135 du 21 octobre 1986 modifiant a loi 66-537 du 24 juillet 1966 sur les sociétés commerciales afin d'offrir aux sociétés anonymes la faculté d'introduire dans leurs statuts des dispositions prévoyant que des représentants du personnel salarié siègeront avec voix délibérative au sein du conseil d'administration ou du conseil de surveillance [Ordinance 1986-1135 of 21 October 1986, modifying Law 1966-537 of 24 July 1966 on commercial companies to offer public limited companies the possibility to introduce provisions in their Statutes to foresee worker representation with deliberative voice in their board of directors or supervisory boards]. https://bit.ly/3BPN32q

All links were checked on 06.06.2023.

#### List of interviews and focus groups

Ahtianen M., Director of Finnish Confederation of Professionals STTK, 15 September 2021. Amiguet Rovira E., CCOO board-level employee representative at Suez, 22 November 2016. Asmussen C., Head of Secretariat at Nordea, 14 December 2017 and 16 August 2021. Bidaud P., CFDT EWC coordinator, 29 September 2020. Carnero M., UGT board-level employee representative at Volkswagen, 14 July 2021. Christy N., Consultant at CO-industri, 17 February 2017. Durivaux G., Policy Officer at EPSU, 20 August 2020. García D., CCOO board-level employee representative at Alstom, 22 July 2021. Gjern Sorens F., Consultant at CO-industri, 3 September 2021. Hagen I. M., Senior Researcher at FAFO, 22 June 2018 and 20 February 2017. Penado E., International Secretariat of CCOO Industry Federation, 22 July 2021. Pütz L., Lawyer at Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, 3 March 2017. Sofer-Ayadi M., EWC Secretary of Veolia, 3 March 2022. Thaarup Herholdt K., Shop steward at Grundfos, 8 September 2021. Focus group with board-level employee representatives from French multinationals at ETUI EDU Training 'The challenges of the Europeanisation of board-level employee representation in French companies', 23-24 March 2021. Focus group with board-level employee representatives and EWC representatives at EWPCC Workshop 'How do EWCs and Board-level employee representatives cooperate?', 24 February 2022. Expert meetings with board-level and works council employee representatives from SCOR SE and Dassault Systèmes SE, 23 February 2022 and 3 March 2022.

European Trade Union Institute etui@etui.org www.etui.org



D/2023/10.574/21 ISSN: 1994-4446 (print version) ISSN: 1994-4454 (electronic version)